p75-NGFR and TNFR1 Interact and Cooperate During the Sympathetic Nervous System Development

> Kazusa Edamura Tokyo, Japan

B.Eng, Waseda University, 2009

A Dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Biology

University of Virginia May, 2014

Abstract

During development, components of the nervous system are overproduced and then refined to achieve optimal connectivity and functionality. During this refinement process, excess neurons are weakened and eliminated, while others are strengthened and stabilized. The molecular basis for these refinement decisions remains unclear. This thesis examines how TNFR family members coordinate their activity to antagonize NGF-TrkA signaling in order to regulate neuronal cell death, axon growth, and cell size during development. First, the closely related TNFR family members, p75-NGFR and TNFR1, and their cognate ligands, BDNF and TNF, are expressed in sympathetic ganglia. In vitro, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 act cooperatively to countermand NGF-TrkA trophic signaling in order to cause ligand-initiated axon growth inhibition. However, such concurrent availability of the two receptors is required to cause cell death initiated by BDNF, but not by TNF α . Further, using co-immunoprecipitation and bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) assays, these receptors are shown to interact on the cellular surface. In vivo, this codependence does not appear to be necessary for developmental cell death, but is required for regulation of sympathetic soma size and proper axon patterning during target innervation. Taken together, these findings suggest cooperativity between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in mediating a range of developmental processes including neuronal morphology regulation.

Table of Contents

<u>Sections</u>	<u>Page</u> Number
Chapter 1: Background	1 - 28
Development of the Sympathetic Nervous System	1
Neurotrophins and Neurotrophin Receptors	4
TNFR family	6
Programmed Cell Death and the Neurotrophic Theory	7
Developmental Cell Survival and Death in the SNS	10
Target Innervation and Developmental Axon Pruning in the SNS	14
Neuronal Soma Size Regulation during Development	17
Molecular Mechanisms of p75-NGFR Signaling	18
Molecular Mechanisms of TNF-TNFR1 Signaling	22
Chapter 2: p75-NGFR and TNFR1 cooperate during sympathetic nervous system development	29 - 69
Introduction	29
Results	33
Discussion	43
Chapter 3: Preliminary Results on the Interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1	70 - 76
Association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 is possibly ligand- independent	70
Localization of p75-NGFR on neurites is upregulated after NGF- deprivation	70
Transmembrane domain similarity analysis of p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and DR6	71
Chapter 4: Preliminary results on the molecular mechanisms of p75-dependent synapse restriction	77 - 89
Introduction	77
Results and Discussion	80

Chapter 5: Discussion and Future Directions	90 - 102
Chapter 6: Materials and Methods	103 - 110
Appendix 1: Validating gene expression in <i>p75-NGFR</i> -null- and <i>TNFR1</i> -null neurons	111 - 115
Appendix 2: Analysis on BiFC controls using homomeric pair of TrkA	116 - 118
Appendix 3: Roles of p75-NGFR- and TNFR1 ligands in vivo	119 - 123
References	124 - 145

List of Figures

	<u>Page</u> Number
Figure 1-1. Schematic representation of the sympathetic nervous system	<u>Number</u> 25
Figure 1-2. Neurotrophin signaling via TrkA and p75-NGFR, and TNF-TNFR1 signaling	27
Figure 2-1. TNFR super family expression analysis.	47
Figure 2-2. BDNF and TNFα promote apoptosis and inhibit axon growth <i>in vitro</i> .	49
Figure 2-3. Models for multiple death receptors to antagonize NGF- TrkA signaling.	51
Figure 2-4. Functional codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in ligand-induced cell death and axon growth inhibition <i>in vitro</i> .	53
Figure 2-5. Interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1.	56
Figure 2-6. Schematic representation of DNA constructs and BiFC of additional combination.	58
Figure 2-7. Cooperativity of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in sympathetic soma size distribution <i>in vivo</i> .	60
Figure 2-8. Quantification of axonal patterning in kidney and heart <i>in vivo</i> .	62
Figure 2-9. Cooperativity of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in axon patterning during sympathetic target innervation <i>in vivo</i> .	64
Figure 2-10. p75-NGFR, but not TNFR1, is required in developmental neuron death <i>in vivo</i> .	66
Figure 2-11. Model for p75-NGFR and TNFR1 cooperation during sympathetic nervous system development.	68
Figure 3-1. Association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 is possibly ligand- independent.	73
Figure 3-2. Localization of p75-NGFR on neurites is upregulated after NGF deprivation.	73
Figure 3-3. Transmembrane domain similarity analysis of p/5-NGFR, TNFR1 and DR6.	75
Figure 4-1. Modes of activation and downstream signaling effectors of p75.	84
Figure 4-2. β -, γ -secretases are required for p/5-dependent synapse restriction.	86
Figure 4-3. p/S signals through KnoA, but not JNK, to restrict synapse formation.	86
Figure 4-4. Activation of INFRI phenocopies p/5-dependent synapse restriction.	88
Figure 4-5. TNF α restricts PSD clustering in a p75-dependent manner.	88

Figure A-1. RT-PCR of p75-NGFR, TNFR1, and other selected genes	114
using p75-NGFR-null- and TNFR1-null neurons.	
Figure A-2. Quantification of BiFC controls using homomeric pair of	117
TrkA.	
Figure A-3. Influence by BDNF, NT4 and TNF in sympathetic soma	121
size distribution, target innervation, and neuronal number in vivo.	

Chapter 1

Background

Development of the Sympathetic Nervous System

The nervous system is wired through a series of developmental events coordinated by complex signaling pathways during development. In this developmental process, it is necessary for the organism to connect a proper amount and type of neurons with their correct partners, as well as to modify neuronal morphology. Toward this end, components of the nervous system including axons and neurons are overproduced and then subpopulations are either strengthened or eliminated. Such refinement is as important as construction of the components to achieve the optimal wiring of the nervous system.

As a part of the autonomic nervous system, the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) maintains homeostasis and enables an animal's "fight or flight" response by increasing heart rate and blood pressure, dilating pupils, promoting perspiration and delaying digestion (Cannon, 1932). The sympathetic nervous system comprises two types of neurons, preganglionic and postganglionic, connecting the central nervous system (CNS) and target organs such as eyes, salivary glands, heart, stomach, and kidneys via spinal cord and sympathetic ganglia (Fig. 1-1). Since Levi-Montalcini and Hamburger discovered the effects of mouse sarcoma promoting nerve growth using the sensory and

sympathetic nervous system of chick embryos in 1951, the postganglionic sympathetic neurons have been an archetypal model to study and dissect the complex signaling that takes place during nervous system development. There are two great merits of using postganglionic sympathetic neurons; 1) the neurons are nearly homogeneously noradrenergic, and 2) the ganglia receive inputs from preganglionic spinal cord neurons and send outputs to target organs (Cane and Anderson, 2009). These simple chemical and structural traits extremely simplify categorization of neuronal type and are beneficial in analyzing molecular influences of the inputs and outputs on development of postganglionic neurons.

In addition to the simpler molecular identity of neurons, the structure of the sympathetic nervous system is somewhat simpler than the central nervous system. Preganglionic neurons reside in the spinal cord and extend their axons towards postganglionic neurons clustered in ganglia along the spinal cord, which is known as the sympathetic chain. Postganglionic axons travel from the sympathetic ganglia toward the aforementioned target organs. Thus, development of the sympathetic nervous system requires both preganglionic and postganglionic neurons to form proper connections with the right targets. This requirement is a great challenge especially for postganglionic neurons because their axons have to find and innervate target organs, which are often located far from the sympathetic ganglia in a dynamically changing environment. To achieve this in a limited time during development, the organism coordinates developmental events in a specific order.

Extensive studies using mouse embryos have shown that postganglionic neurons undergo key milestones from embryonic day 10 (E10) (Rubin, 1985). Sympathetic precursors are generated from neural crest cells, which have ventrally migrated from dorsal neural tube to the adjacent vicinity of the dorsal aorta around E10 (Rubin, 1985). Signals secreted by the surrounding tissues, including the aorta, induce neuronal differentiation into sympathetic precursors and ganglia formation by activating a cascade of specific transcription factors. At E12-14, sympathetic cell bodies, which have exited from the mitotic cycle and differentiated as noradrenergic, start to extend axons and dendrites (Rubin, 1985). At E15, the axons begin to reach the target tissues and final target innervation commences (Rubin, 1985). Simultaneously, dendrites continue to be elaborated in the sympathetic ganglia. Then, following the final target innervation, the postganglionic dendrites and preganglionic axons form functional synapses in the ganglia. This process is regulated by a retrograde signal, which has traveled inside the axon from the final target to the dendrites (Sharma et al., 2010). The stabilization of sympathetic neurons during development depends on the target-derived neurotrophic signal, identified as nerve growth factor (NGF) (Cohen, 1960). Between E17 and postnatal day 0 (P0), as final targets receive sympathetic innervation, postganglionic neurons undergo NGFdependent survival where only the neurons acquiring survival signaling are strengthened and fixed in the nervous system. In contrast, the neurons failing to gain access to NGF commit to die by activating signaling that encodes apoptosis (Oppenheim, 1991). In this way, the spinal cord and target organs are wired by postganglionic sympathetic neurons together with preganglionic neurons prior to birth. Elaboration of this network continues after birth.

During development, the survival/death decision of neurons, as well as final target innervation, play a crucial role because the functionality of the nervous system lies in the appropriate amount of connections in the nervous system. Here, two influencing parameters are the number and morphology of neurons, both of which are controlled by the amount of target-derived NGF in the sympathetic nervous system. Thus, developmental cell death and axonal patterning on target organs play an important role in removing errors and refining the nervous system.

Neurotrophins and Neurotrophin Receptors

Development of the sympathetic nervous system requires cell extrinsic trophic factors, which activate intrinsic signaling cascades to initiate a hierarchy of developmental events (Bibel and Barde, 2000). One class of trophic factors that is particularly important for nervous system development and function is the neurotrophin family. Neurotrophins are growth factors crucial for neuronal precursor proliferation, neuronal differentiation, and survival as well as axon growth and target innervation (Glebova and Ginty, 2005). Mammals utilize four neurotrophins: NGF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT3) and neurotrophin-4 (NT4). Each neurotrophin is generated from the precursor known as proneurotrophin, which must be cleaved in order to function as a mature form of neurotrophin (Teng et al, 2010). To transduce signaling from the neurotrophins, there are two different classes of neurotrophin receptors: 1) a family of receptor tyrosine kinases, termed the Trks; and 2) the p75 nerve growth factor receptor

(p75-NGFR), a tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) family member. Each Trk family member binds to a specific neurotrophin with high affinity. These are as follows: NGF to TrkA, BDNF and NT4 to TrkB, and NT3 to TrkC, with p75-NGFR displaying low affinity promiscuous binding with all neurotrophins (Fig. 1-2A) (Bibel and Barde, 2000; Chao, 2003). One aspect that makes p75-NGFR a puzzling receptor is that its ligand partners include not only the neurotrophins, but also proneurotrophins and myelinderived molecules. However, a classic view in the neurotrophin field is that distinct activation of Trk receptors vs p75-NGFR ultimately results in supporting vs inhibiting neuronal survival/growth, respectively.

Almost all developmental events of the postganglionic sympathetic neurons are supported by NGF-TrkA signaling (Glebova and Ginty, 2005; Ichim et al., 2012). When NGF binds to TrkA, the ligand dimerizes the receptor, leading to autophosphorylation of the intracellular kinase domain of TrkA. This event generates a signaling cascade downstream involving Ras activation, which further activates several pathways, such as the phosphophatidyl inositol-3 (PI3)-kinase pathway and/or the MAP kinase pathway, resulting in the expression of pro-survival/pro-differentiation genes, promoting neuronal survival, differentiation, neurite growth or synaptic plasticity (Fig. 1-2B) (Chao, 2003; Reichardt, 2006; Ichim et al., 2012). On the other hand, the pro-apoptotic functions of p75-NGFR is triggered as follows: when p75-NGFR is activated by neurotrophins, proneurotrophins or nonneurotrophic ligands, it leads to the activation of the Jun kinase (JNK) pathway, or RhoA, which results in either upregulating pro-apoptotic genes or the reduction of growth cone motility, thus promoting cell death and axon pruning (Fig.1-2B) (Bibel and Barde, 2000; Chao, 2003; Glebova and Ginty, 2005; Reichardt, 2006). As such, the signal initiated by target-derived neurotrophins is transduced in a complicated manner by their receptors and downstream effectors. Neurons orchestrate neurotrophin signaling by regulating the spatial and temporal expression of neurotrophins as well as Trk receptors and p75-NGFR.

TNFR Family

Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor (TNFR) family consists nearly 30 distinct members and regulates a wide variety of functions such as immune responses, cell proliferation, differentiation and death (Locksley et al., 2001; Twohig et al., 2012). Structurally, the members are characterized by multiple (usually one to four) cysteine-rich domains (CRDs) in the extracellular part of the receptor. Six highly conserved cysteines in these domains create three intrachain disulfide bridges, forming the binding groove for the corresponding ligand, which is typically a trimer (Locksley et al., 2001; Twohig et al., 2012). Of these TNFR family members, eight receptors with a certain intracellular interaction motif, known as the death domain (DD), are further categorized as death receptors including TNFR1 and p75-NGFR, both of which are reported to cause apoptosis and refine the nervous system (Twihog et al., 2012). The DD acts as a docking site and can recruit various adaptor proteins, such as Fas-associated DD protein (FADD), TNFR-associated DD protein (TRADD), to recruit even more pro-death signaling molecules and transduce death signaling downstream (Locksley et al., 2001).

Even though many TNFR family members do not possess the DD, 20 members of the TNFR family have another intracellular domain that can recruit an adaptor protein known as TNFR-associated factor (TRAF) (Arch et al., 1998; Silke and Brink, 2010). One reason signaling generated by TNFR family members is complex is because TRAFs interact with a variety of cytoplasmic proteins and regulate signaling for cell survival as well as apoptosis and stress responses (Arch et al., 1988).

Programmed Cell Death and the Neurotrophic Theory

Programmed cell death (PCD) occurs as an active and natural process whereby cells die so that the proper number and types of cells should efficiently arise during development and be maintained throughout life. Almost all tissues utilize PCD in vertebrates for component quality- and quantity control and error corrections by removing unneeded, nonfunctional or harmful cells (Glückman, 1951; Ellis et al., 1991; Oppenheim, 1991).

A classic and well-studied form of PCD is apoptosis, in which cells commit to die by activating an intracellular suicide mechanism. Development of the nervous system hugely relies on apoptosis to shape the circuit during the late stage. Apoptosis is linked to certain microscopic features such as cellular shrinkage, chromatin condensation, endonuclease degradation of DNA and nuclear fragmentation (Kerr et al., 1972; Wu et al., 2011). At the molecular level, apoptosis is characterized by the intracellular cascade activation of specific cysteine proteases known as caspases, which are executors in the death signaling pathway. This caspase cascade activation is a two-step process; first, the initiator

caspases (caspase-2, -8, -9, -10) are auto-activated, often following the formation of a multi-component complex, then the activated initiator caspases further activate the effector caspases (caspase-3, -7, -8) by cleavage (Riedl and Shi, 2004; Parrish et al., 2013). Following such cleavage, the effector caspases are committed to cleave a broad spectrum of cellular substrates to destroy the cell (Riedl and Shi 2004; Parrish et al, 2013). The morphological features and caspase-dependence of apoptosis is distinct from necrosis, which is another form of cell death characterized by cell swelling and caspase-independent properties (Wu et al., 2011). Recent accumulating studies report that programmed cell death is not limited to apoptosis, but also includes a form of necrosis. The process of programmed necrosis, also known as Necroptosis, has been reported to cause cell death by a distinct mechanism (Edinger and Thompson, 2004; Wu et al., 2011). Although this is an attractive topic, it is beyond the scope of this thesis, i.e., the refinement functions of apoptotic signaling during the sympathetic nervous system development. Thus, hereafter cell death will refer only to apoptosis in this thesis.

During development of the sympathetic nervous system, which is one of the best models for studying apoptosis, as much as 50% of developing neurons undergo apoptosis soon after the axons reach and innervate the target tissues (Oppenheim, 1991). This phenomenon is explained by the "neurotrophic theory" formulated following the discovery of NGF by Levi-Montalcini and Hamburger and Hamburger in the 1940s and 1950s. The theory addresses the survival of neurons as well as innervation depends on the limited amount of target-derived neurotrophic factor (Oppenheim, 1989; Davies, 1991). Further evidence, discovered in the 1980s, verified three aspects of the theory; 1) under normal conditions, only a limited population of NGF-dependent ganglion neurons can survive, 2) the massive cell death observed under normal condition is rescued by the addition of exogenous NGF, and 3) the degree of innervation positively correlates with the levels of NGF secreted in the vicinity of targets (Oppenheim, 1989). The further understanding of the molecular mechanism for these phenomena has progressed with the discovery of the receptors to NGF, TrkA and p75-NGFR, which have already been described to play positive or negative roles in neuronal survival during development. Thus, the optimal number of neurons innervating a target tissue in the sympathetic nervous system is determined by competition between pro-death signaling from p75-NGFR and pro-survival signaling from TrkA (Deppmann and Janes, 2012). In this competition, either pro-survival signaling or pro-apoptotic signaling becomes dominant in the cell, resulting in its survival/death decision.

Interestingly, the competition between pro-survival and pro-death signaling has recently been found to be more complex. New discoveries demonstrated that TrkA causes neuronal death in a p75-dependent manner (Nikoletopoulou et al., 2010; Dekkers et al., 2013). This suggests that TrkA is involved in generating both pro-survival- and pro-death signaling, implying that TrkA function in cell survival/death depends on the NGF availability because neurons survive when NGF-TrkA signaling is dominant (Bamji et al., 1998). In other words, TrkA can detect the presence and absence of NGF, leading to distinct functions of the receptor. Thus, TrkA is now categorized as a "dependence receptor". Since p75-NGFR can also be activated by both the presence and absence of NGF, sympathetic neurons utilize multiple dependence receptors. The molecular

mechanisms by which TrkA and p75-NGFR cooperate to cause cell death remains unknown. The merit of using dependence receptors during developmental cell death is probably enabling cells to control its sensitivity to NGF by upregulating or downregulating TrkA and/or p75-NGFR, which is a key mechanism for a neuron to become NGF-dependent during target innervation. Here, it is interesting to note that survival of developing sensory neurons is supported by either BDNF or NT3 prior to target innervation, while NGF-dependence is acquired during the early stages of target innervation (Paul and Davies, 1995). This suggests that neurotrophin sensitivity of developing neurons is fundamentally different before and during target innervation.

Developmental Cell Survival and Death in the SNS

In developing mouse sympathetic neurons, TrkA, TrkC and p75-NGFR, but not TrkB, are expressed (Fagan et al., 1996). Thus, as the neurotrophic theory states, neuronal survival during sympathetic nervous system development is supported by acquiring target-derived NGF via TrkA and activating survival signaling inside the neuron. When the distal axons reach the final target after traveling a long distance following the vasculature, NGF secreted from target organs binds to neuronal TrkA on the axon. This leads to endocytosis of the NGF-TrkA complex often referred to as the signaling endosome. Following endocytosis, the signaling endosome is trafficked retrogradely toward the cell body, where it engages transcriptional programs that support neuronal survival and axon growth, including upregulationg TrkA expression (Ibáñez et al., 1992; Kohn et al., 1999; Ye et al., 2003; Deppmann et al, 2008). Interestingly, the restrograde TrkA signaling is

attenuated by inhibition of PI3-kinase, suggesting that the retrograde trafficking of the signaling endosome is PI3-kinase-dependent (Kuruvilla et al., 2004).

The other important aspect that the neurotrophic theory indicates is that developmental cell death is initiated when the neuron is unable to gain access to NGF. This has been successfully modeled in an *in vitro* system where developing sympathetic neurons cultured in NGF-deprived media undergo apoptosis (Deckwerth and Johnson, 1993a and 1993b). After this *in vitro* manipulation became available, accumulating studies have described molecular mechanisms of sympathetic apoptosis induced by NGF-deprivation. According to elegant work from the laboratory of Eugene Johnson, Jr., neuronal degradation and death can be prevented by inhibiting mRNA, which suggests that de novo synthesized gene products participate to cause apoptosis (Martin et al., 1988; Deckwerth and Johnson, 1993b). Furthermore, the neuronal death is prevented by addition of NGF, cyclic AMP or KCL, which is blocked by inhibition of protein synthesis, suggesting that the cell possess a mechanism to halt the apoptotic progress at the post translational level (Edwards et al., 1991). These findings further led to investigations identifying gene components unregulated or required in the apoptotic pathway. It is now established that NGF deprivation activates the MLK-JNK-cJun pathway followed by the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway in a p75-NGFR-mediated manner to cause apoptosis in developing sympathetic neurons (Deshmukh and Johnson, 1997; Ham et al, 2000; Kole et al., 2013). The intrinsic pathway during the development of sympathetic neurons utilizes common machinery with common components also used for apoptosis of other cell types. The apoptotic upstream signals activate Bcl-2-associated X protein (Bax) and release

mitochondrial cytochrome c, which binds to Apaf-1 and recruits and forms the apoptosome complex with Apaf-1 in the cytoplasm. (Deshmuk and Johnson, 1997; Dekkers et al., 2013). This recruits and activates caspase-9, leading to activation of the effector caspases. Here, the X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) specifically polyubiquitylates active caspase-9 to tightly regulate the intrinsic pathway. Thus, in order to activate caspase cascade, the neuron is required to decrease the level of XIAP (Potts et al., 2003; Parrish et al., 2013). Recently, a global gene expression analysis discovered additional genes associated with the ER unfolded protein response are upregulated after NGF withdrawal, suggesting that ER stress response takes place during sympathetic apoptosis (Kristiansen et al., 2011). Compared to the downstream NGF-deprivation induced refinement, however, the upstream mechanism, i.e., how the cell detects the "absence" of NGF and transduces the signal to the inside, has been understudied. As a death receptor expressed on the sympathetic cell membrane, p75-NGFR is a good candidate to influence how this process is initiated.

p75-NGFR is a classic death receptor accelerating apoptosis during the sympathetic nervous system development. p75-NGFR knockout animals have been reported to increase neuronal numbers at the postnatal sympathetic ganglia (Bamji et al., 1998; Deppmann et al., 2008). However, the apoptotic effect of p75-NGFR in the sympathetic nervous system does not remain until adulthood. In adult *p75-NGFR*-deficient sympathetic ganglia the neuronal number is normal compared to wild type controls, while the neuronal number remains increased in the adult *Bax*-null sympathetic ganglia (Bamji et al., 1998; Deppmann et al., 2008; Li et al., 2011). These data suggest that p75-NGFR

causes rapid cell death, but that sympathetic apoptosis does not completely rely on p75-NGFR. One plausible explanation for this would be that other pro-apoptotic receptors participate in this apoptotic process.

Indeed, apoptotic signaling induced by other TNFR family members is implicated in the apoptotic signaling during nervous system development. One example is TNF-TNFR1 signaling. The sympathetic neurons express $TNF\alpha$ and its death receptor TNFR1 during development, and addition of TNF α significantly kills cultured developing sympathetic neurons in the presence of a suboptimal level of NGF that can support sufficient neuronal survival but can be overridden by activation of death signaling (Barker et al., 2001). In the same report, the *in vivo* neuronal number of the sympathetic ganglia from TNFdeficient mice is higher than that of wild type controls. Another example known to cause cell death is death receptor 6 (DR6) signaling. DR6 is a member of the TNFR family and has been demonstrated to cause apoptosis in sensory developing neurons, which are also NGF-dependent like the sympathetic neurons (Nikolaev et al., 2009). In this process, NGF deprivation releases N terminal β -amyloid precursor protein (APP), which acts as a DR6 ligand (Nikolaev et al., 2009). On the other hand, two other TNFR family members, Fas and glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor (GITR), do not contribute to developmental cell death in sympathetic neurons. This is despite the coexpression of the receptors and their ligands, FasL and GITRL, respectively (Putcha et al., 2002; O'Keefe et al., 2008). Taken together, developing neurons utilize multiple sets of prodeath signaling to hasten the apoptotic process. However, whether (and how) these receptors cooperate during this process remains unknown. One possibility is that distinct

receptors form a complex on the cell membrane to generate apoptotic signaling. For example, recent studies show that p75-NGFR and DR6 form a complex allowing β amyloid-induced death to occur in cortical neurons (Hu et al., 2013). Additionally, DR6 is reported to form a nonapoptotic complex with another TNFR member, TROY, during brain vascular development and promotes vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)induced JNK phosphorylation (Tam et al., 2011). However, whether p75-NGFR has such other co-receptor partners among TNFR family members is completely unknown.

Target Innervation and Developmental Axon Pruning in the SNS

The neurotrophic theory argues that the axons of developing neurons compete for a limited amount of target-derived NGF during the final target innervation. To reach the distal target tissues, differentiated sympathetic neurons extend their axons from the sympathetic ganglia by following vasculature and intermediate targets that attract sympathetic axons by secreting trophic factors such as Artemin (ARTN) and NT3 which induce ret proto-oncogene (RET) signaling and TrkA signaling, respectively, locally at the extending axons (Enomoto et al., 2001, Honma et al., 2002; Kuruvilla et al., 2004; Glebova and Ginty, 2005). Once the target has been reached, sympathetic innervation commences. As shown in the initial discovery and following reports of the effects of NGF on the promotion of sympathetic axon extension, the development event is promoted by NGF (Levi-Montalcini, 1987; Glebova and Ginty, 2005; Davies, 2009). The relative relevance of NGF-TrkA signaling in target innervation *in vivo* was first discovered by Glebova and Ginty by generating a mouse line that lacks both *NGF* and

Bax. Since neuronal death caused by lack of *NG*F has been rescued by ablating *Bax*, the role of NGF in target innervation has been successfully determined (Glebova and Ginty, 2004). According to their report, the NGF-dependency in target innervation varies among sympathetic targets *in vivo*. For example, sympathetic innervation is absent in the heart ventricles whereas partially reduced in the kidneys in *Bax-/-;NGF-/-* mice, supporting that additional players are required in promoting the sympathetic innervation in majority of target organs (Glebova and Ginty, 2004).

Developmental axon pruning is necessary to correct neuronal misconnections and achieve nervous system development for proper functions. Toward this end, not only must the developing axons be guided properly to the target tissue, but also excess and nonfunctional axons must be eliminated.

Accumulating studies show that p75-NGFR promotes accurate sympathetic axon branching on the target by locally mediating repulsive, inhibitory or degenerative signaling in the axon (Wong et al, 2002; Yamashita et al., 1999; Kohn et al, 1999; Signh et al, 2008). The sympathetic target innervation in *p75-NGFR*-deficient mice is impaired (Lee et al., 1994; Jahed and Kawaja, 2005). In the repulsive- and inhibitory signaling, myelin-derived proteins such as Nogo, myelin associated glycoprotein (MAG) and oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (OMpg), activate RhoA and result in inhibition of axon growth (Yamashita and Tohyama, 2003). For such guidance cues, an increasing number of factors have been reported, such as semaphorin (Sema) 3A and 3F, ephrin B2 and proNGF (Naska et al., 2010; Deinhardt et al., 2011). In axon-degenerative signaling, BDNF-activated p75-NGFR promotes axon growth inhibition in the developing sympathetic neurons (Kohn et al., 1999). Recent data showing an increased sympathetic innervation in mice carrying a mutation in the BDNF promoter region suggest that this axon pruning induced by BDNF via p75-NGFR takes place in an activity-dependent manner (Singh et al., 2008). Although both the local degenerative signaling used in axon pruning and the global degenerative signaling used in apoptosis are caspase-dependent events, recent reports indicate that a prominent difference lies in the type of caspases participating in the aforementioned processes. The downstream signaling during axon pruning specifically utilizes caspase-6, the absence of which protects sympathetic axons from pruning induced by NGF withdrawal (Nikolaev et al., 2009; Simon et al., 2012; Cusack et al., 2013). However, further detail of the axon pruning-specific signaling pathway, particularly how caspase-6 is activated, has been controversial and not fully elucidated.

Other TNFR family members, not only p75-NGFR, are also reported to regulate target innervation. DR6 is reported to promote sensory axon pruning via caspase-6 activation (Nikolaev et al., 2009; Cusack et al., 2013). Interestingly, GITR has been shown to promote sympathetic neurite growth *in vitro* via supporting NGF-induced ERK phosphorylation (O'Keefe et al., 2008). In *GITR*-null mice, sympathetic innervation density at iris and nasal mucosa is greatly reduced (O'Keefe et al., 2008). Recent studies reporting similar pro-neurite-growth effects of the reverse signaling of TNF, i.e., TNFR1-TNF signaling, add more complexity to the functions of the TNFR family members during development. In this report, significant growth of developing sympathetic axons is shown after exogenous addition of extracellular domains of TNFR1 in culture, and reduction of sympathetic innervation density is observed in iris, nasal tissue and submandibular glands from both *TNF*-deficient- and *TNFR1*-deficient mice (Kisiswa et al., 2013). However, as seen in pro-death complexes formed by p75-NGFR and DR6, or non-apoptotic complexes regulating CNS vascular development formed by DR6 and TROY, whether multiple TNFR family members cooperate for either axon growth or pruning during the target innervation or denervation still remains a mystery.

Neuronal Soma Size Regulation during Development

Compared to developmental cell survival/death and axon growth/pruning, the physiological impact of neuronal soma size during development has been understudied.

Neuronal hypertrophy induced by NGF has been observed as one of the nerve-growth promoting effects NGF exhibits during development. Levi-Montalcini and Bookers found that an increase in size of chick sympathetic neuronal cell bodies is evoked by addition of NGF isolated from mouse salivary glands (Levi-Montalcini and Bookers, 1960). The following studies demonstrated that the cell body diameter of developing neurons is positively correlated with NGF levels in the media *in vitro* and that neuronal size at mouse sympathetic ganglia is decreased by approximately half *in vivo* after NGF antiserum injection (Chun and Patterson, 1977; Ruit and Snyder, 1991). Unlike sympathetic neuronal death, this NGF deprivation-induced neuronal atrophy does not seem to require Bax since the *Bax*-deficient neurons after NGF deprivation still show a diameter size reduction by about half compared to *Bax*-deficient neurons cultured in the presence of NGF (Deckwerth et al., 1996). Further research using *BDNF*-deficient- and *p75-NGFR*-deficient mice revealed that neuronal size in the two mutant sympathetic ganglia decreased compared to wild type (Bamji et al., 1998). However, since those experiments were not carried out in the *Bax*-null background, ablating *BDNF* or *p75-NGFR* rescued a certain neuronal population that otherwise would have undergone cell death. Thus, the neuronal number at the sympathetic ganglia from such mice differ from that of wild type, in which cell death occurs and 50% of the neuronal population is lost. Thus, such difference in neuronal number among genotpes may have resulted in misinterpretation of the effects of p75-NGFR and BDNF. In order to accurately understand their effects in regulating the developing sympathetic neuronal size, *Bax*-difficient neurons need to be used.

Molecular mechanisms of p75-NGFR signaling

p75-NGFR is TNFR superfamily (TNFRSF) member 16 and it is required for proper nervous system development. Expression of p75-NGFR has been widely observed in the CNS and PNS during development, although its postnatal expression level decreases in most cells and is restricted to subpopulations of neurons, including sympathetic and sensory neurons (Roux and Barker, 2002; Bartkowska et al., 2010). Interestingly, the p75-NGFR expression is elevated in several types of adult neurons and glial cells after neuronal injury and cellular stress (Ibanes and Simi, 2012). As previously mentioned, by interacting with a large number of molecules p75-NGFR possesses diverse functions including apoptosis, neurite growth inhibition, myelination, and axon pruning (Fig.1-2B) (Roux and Barker, 2002; Dekkers et al., 2013).

p75-NGFR has a variety of ligands and co-receptors, thus possessing a wide range of subsequent signaling pathways. p75-NGFR is also capable of binding all neurotrophins and proneurotrophins (Bibel and Barde, 2000; Hempstead, 2006). The well-known pathways activated by neurotrophin binding of p75-NGFR are the JNK pathway and caspase cascade, which both result in apoptosis, as well as the NFkB, which is known to promote cell proliferation and survival (Yoon et al., 1998; Linggi et al., 2005; Carter et al., 1996). Neurotrophins bind to a subpopulation of p75-NGFR that pre-exists as a homodimer on the cell surface via disulfide-linkage of the specific cysteine in the transmembrane region (Vilar et al., 2009a). This pre-ligand assembly of p75-NGFR is regarded to be responsible for activation of the neurotrophin-induced pathways including NFkB, JNK and caspase-3 (Vilar et al., 2009a, 2009b). On the other hand, binding of the precursors of mature neurotrophins, known as proneurotrophins, requires p75-NGFR, as well as another transmembrane protein known as Sortilin, and causes apoptosis in cultured sympathetic neurons and axonal growth cone retraction in hippocampal neurons (Nykjaer et al., 2004; Jensen et al., 2007; Deinhardt et al., 2011). In proNGF binding, p75-NGFR/Sortilin has higher affinity than TrkA, which indicates that proNGF acts as a death ligand whereas NGF acts as a survival ligand in cells expressing p75-NGFR, Sortilin and TrkA, such as sympathetic neurons. However, the neuronal number at sympathetic ganglia from *Sortilin*-deficient mice does not show a significant change

compared to controls during naturally occurring cell death (Jensen et al., 2007). This suggests that apoptosis during sympathetic nervous system development does not rely on the proneurotrophin signaling pathway.

Although roles of unprocessed vs mature neurotrophins seem to be distinctive during development, one common feature of proneurotrophin and neurotrophin is that both can induce sequential cleavage of p75-NGFR by secretases and release of the intracellular domain (ICD) of p75-NGFR into the cytoplasm (Kanchappa et al., 2006; Bronfman, 2007). In cultured sympathetic neurons it is shown that the level of p75-NGFR-ICD is elevated after addition of proBDNF and BDNF, but not NGF. (Kanchappa et al., 2006). This can explain the great neuronal loss in the sympathetic ganglia from the mice constitutively expressing p75-NGFR-ICD (Majdan et al., 1997). The proteolytic processing of p75-NGFR is a two-step shedding event; first, the extracellular domain (ECD) of p75-NGFR is cleaved by metalloproteases including "a disintegrin, metalloprotease" 17 (ADAM17) and ADAM10, then the membrane bound C-terminal fragment (CTF) of p75-NGFR is cleaved by the γ -secretase complex (Bronfman, 2007). In PC12 cells, which are a neuron-like cell line expressing both p75-NGFR and TrkA, NGF induces ICD production (Urra et al., 2007). Interestingly, the NGF-induced cleavage of p75-NGFR is blocked by a Trk kinase inhibitor, suggesting that the cleavage process is TrkA-dependent in PC12 cells. However, NGF-inducibility of p75-NGFR cleavage is context-dependent. In sympathetic neurons, ICD production is not induced by addition of NGF (Kanchappa et al., 2006). The mechanism that induces p75-NGFR proteolysis in the sympathetic neurons remains unknown.

Additionally, p75-NGFR can bind to nonneurotrophic, myelin-derived molecules such as MAG, Nogo, and OMpg (Wong et al., 2002). It is shown that this binding does not require the disulfide linkage of p75-NGFR through the transmembrane cysteine, which is seen in neurotrohin binding of p75-NGFR (Ibanez and Simi, 2012; Vilar et al., 2009). Upon binding of nonneurotrohic molecules, p75-NGFR requires the Nogo receptor (NgR) and Lingo1 as coreceptors, and this complex facilitates the interaction of p75-NGFR and Rho dissociation inhibitor (Rho-GDI), which leads to release of active RhoA, ultimately leading to axon growth inhibition and axon degeneration (Yamashita and Tohyama, 2003). Interestingly, RhoA activity is restricted under neurotrophin-induced p75-NGFR signaling (Yamashita and Tohyama, 2003).

Furthermore, p75-NGFR is a dependence receptor and can be activated by the absence of ligands to cause apoptosis. A dependence receptor is defined as an apoptotic mediator detecting the withdrawal of a trophic factor and transducing death signaling downstream (Rabizadeh and Bredesen, 2003). R2 cells in serum-free medium expressing p75-NGFR experienced significantly decreased cell death with the presence of the p75-NGFR antibody compared to a control culture without the antibody (Rabizadeh et al., 1993). How does a receptor detect a signal without a ligand? Even though how p75-NGFR functions as a dependent receptor remains unknown, it is possible that it functions together with TrkA, which is also a dependence receptor. Interestingly, p75-NGFR and TrkA have been shown to interact through their intracellular domains in a ligand-independent fashion in PC12 cells and hippocampal neurons using FRET technique

(Iacaruso et al., 2011). This may suggest that when TrkA is not occupied with NGF, it interacts with p75-NGFR and that the TrkA/p75-NGFR complex might generate death signaling. How p75-NGFR and TrkA cooperate to cause cell death remains to be fully elucidated.

Molecular mechanisms of TNF-TNFR1 signaling

TNFR1, also known as TNFRSF1A, is a classic death receptor initially identified as a mediator for immunological responses. TNFR1 and its ligand TNFα have also been implicated in non-immunological functions during development of the nervous system (Twohig et al., 2012). TNFR1 and p75-NGFR share similar functions and downstream pathways, such as cell proliferation via NFkB activation and apoptosis via activation of JNK and caspase cascade (Fig. 1-2C) (Chen and Goeddel, 2002; Naude et al., 2011).

As members of the TNF family, TNF and lymphotoxin (LT) can bind to both TNFR1 and TNFR2. TNFR2 is structurally similar to TNFR1, but does not possess the DD. While expression of LT and TNFR2 is restricted to hematopoietic and endothelial cells, TNF and TNFR1 are broadly expressed, including in the nervous system. Thus, TNF-TNFR1 signaling has been implicated in regulating nervous system development (Remouchamps et al., 2011; Tracey et al., 2008).

Distinctions between TNF-TNFR1 signaling compared to p75-NGFR signaling include a fewer number of ligands that TNFR1 has and the formation of death-inducing signaling

complexes (DISC). As a TNFR1 ligand, TNF is biologically active in two forms; a soluble form known as TNF α and a membrane-bound form called tmTNF. tmTNF is cleaved by ADAM17 and its extracellular part is released as TNFa (Naude et al., 2011). Both forms can bind to TNFR1 and TNFR2, but TNFα binds to TNFR1 with higher affinity whereas tmTNF preferentially binds to TNFR2 (Tracey et al., 2008). Prior to ligand binding, TNFR1 exists as a homotrimer via the first cysteine-rich domain in the extracellular part. This is called pre-ligand assembly and this ligand-independent selfassociation is required for TNF binding (Chan et al., 2000). In this pre-ligand stage, a protein called the silencer of death domain (SODD) is bound to the cytoplasmic tail of TNFR1, in order to avoid inadvertent activation of TNFR1 (Chan, 2007). Upon binding, a TNF trimer interacts with the extracellular domain of TNFR1. This conformational change recruits several adapter proteins to the DD of TNFR1 including TRADD, FADD, TRAF2, receptor interacting protein (RIP) and even procaspase-8. Aggregation of these proteins at TNFR1-DD is called the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) and acts to further transduce the death signaling to the cytoplasm (Chen and Goeddel, 2002; Schutze et al., 2008). In p75-NGFR signaling, on the other hand, no complex equivalent to DISC has been found and activation of caspase-8 is not involved in p75-NGFR-mediated cell death. Thus, the p75-NGFR apoptotic signaling pathway is regarded to be distinct from that of TNFR family members (Roux and Barker, 2002).

Aside from the canonical TNF-TNFR1 pathway, there is an emerging, non-canonical pathway called reverse signaling in TNF biology. In this signaling, binding of TNFRs or TNF antagonists to tmTNF triggers signaling inside the tmTNF-bearing cell, leading to

suppression of cell proliferation in human T cells (Tracey et al., 2008; Eissner et al., 2004). A recent study has discovered an important role of this TNF reverse signaling during sympathetic nervous system development. A soluble form of TNFR1 was shown to act via neuronal tmTNF to facilitate axon growth in sympathetic neurons and promote sympathetic target innervation in iris and submandibular glands in an ERK1/ERK2-dependent manner (Kisiswa et al., 2013). This suggests that target-derived soluble TNFR1 influences the target innervation and implies that soluble TNFR1 plays a role as an attraction guidance cue in axon branching on target organs.

Figure 1-1. Schematic representation of the sympathetic nervous system. Preganglionic sympathetic neurons: *orange*, Postganglionic sympathetic neurons: *green*. Postganglionic neurons receive inputs from preganglionic neurons and extend axons to target organs such as eyes, salivary glands, heart, stomach, and kidneys.



Figure 1-2. Neurotrophin signaling via TrkA and p75-NGFR, and TNF-TNFR1 signaling.(A) Neurotrophins and neurotrophin receptors. (B) TrkA signaling and p75-NGFR signaling. (C) TNF-TNFR1 signaling.

Figure 1-2

Α



В

С





Chapter 2

p75-NGFR and TNFR1 cooperate during sympathetic nervous system development

This chapter is based on work submitted to eLife journal.

Kazusa Edamura¹*, Irene Cheng^{1,2}*, Kelvin Chan¹*, Catherine Jansch¹*, Danielle L.

Heffner¹*, Anthony J. Spano¹, and Christopher D. Deppmann¹⁻⁴⁺

Department of Biology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, 22903, USA
Neuroscience Graduate Program, University of Virginia Charlottesville, VA, 22903, USA

Department of Cell Biology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, 22903, USA
Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, 22903, USA

+ To whom correspondence should be sent

* equal contribution

Introduction

Nervous system development in complex organisms employs a strategy of "trial and error", which relies on a dynamic and tightly controlled cycle of construction and destruction. The vertebrate nervous system takes advantage of this strategy by overproducing circuit components, such as axons, synapses and even neurons and then refining them to achieve appropriate connectivity and function (Hamburger and Levi-Montalcini, 1949; reviewed in Chao, 2003; Fitzsimonds and Poo, 1998). An emergent principal in developmental neuroscience is that pro-growth and pro-refinement signaling pathways compete with one another to promote or inhibit connectivity in order to define the architecture of the nervous system (Deppmann *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2008;

Sharma *et al.*, 2010). How cross-talk between construction and destruction cues occurs to mediate nervous system wiring remains an open question.

In the sympathetic nervous system, TrkA and p75-nerve growth factor receptor (p75-NGFR) promote pro-growth and pro-refinement events, respectively (reviewed in Majdan and Miller, 1999). Target organ-derived nerve growth factor (NGF) binds axonal TrkA thereby transducing signaling cascades, which promote target innervation, neuronal survival, synapse initiation, and a variety of other important developmental processes (McMahon *et al.* 1994; Glebova and Ginty, 2004; Sharma *et al.*, 2010). p75-NGFR signaling, on the other hand, represents a counterbalance to these TrkA-mediated progrowth signals, as it mediates neuronal death, axon degeneration, and even synapse restriction (Bamji *et al.*, 1998; Singh *et al.*, 2008; Sharma *et al.*, 2010). p75-NGFR refines the peripheral nervous system (PNS) by hastening developmental competition between neurons through the promotion of apoptosis and axon pruning (Deppmann *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2008).

Competition for survival during sympathetic neuron target innervation is perhaps the best characterized developmental event in which both TrkA and p75-NGFR participate. This process was first described in the neurotrophic factor hypothesis, which posits that neuronal death during development is initiated via competition for limiting amounts of target-derived trophic factor, such as NGF (Hamburger and Montalcini, 1949). In sympathetic neurons, two candidate signaling pathways have been proposed to facilitate apoptosis during competition for trophic factor: (1) NGF withdrawal (Deckwerth and
Johnson, 1993b) and (2) ligand-induced death signaling which over-rides low levels of NGF-dependent survival signaling (termed suboptimal by Miller and colleagues, Majdan *et al.*, 2001). Death signaling in sympathetic neurons can occur through brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) or neurotrophin 4 (NT4) signaling through p75-NGFR (Majdan *et al.*, 2001; Deppmann *et al.*, 2008). Importantly, BDNF-induced apoptosis is blocked at saturating (optimal) levels of NGF (Majdan *et al.*, 2001). While there is evidence that these are two fundamentally different pathways for neuron death, several studies have suggested that p75-NGFR may be involved in both processes, however, whether p75-NGFR requires a ligand in the context of trophic withdrawal remains in question (Nikoletopoulou *et al.*, 2010; Bamji *et al.*, 1998).

We have observed that loss of *p75-NGFR* slows, but does not prevent, developmental sympathetic neuron death *in vivo* (Deppmann *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, we speculate that other death receptors may be able to compensate for loss of *p75-NGFR*. p75-NGFR is a member of tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) family and signaling related to several of these receptors has been reported to build or refine the sympathetic nervous system (O'Keeffe *et al.*, 2008; Kisiswa *et al.*, 2013; Barker *et al.*, 2001; Nikolaev *et al.*, 2009). TNFR1 and death receptor 6 (DR6) are expressed in developing sympathetic neurons and play similar pro-destruction roles to p75-NGFR in sympathetic nervous system refinement. What is the purpose of having several death receptors are purely redundant and this is a way for a cell to diversify the ligands that it can respond to. Alternatively, different combinations of death receptors may reflect unique functionality.

To distinguish between these possibilities, it is critical to understand the relative contribution and functional relationship of TNFR family members in developmental circuit refinement.

Here we focus on the relationship between two pro-refinement receptors expressed in the sympathetic nervous system, p75-NGFR and TNFR1. These family members share several properties, for example, both receptors are capable of triggering common signaling pathways including caspase cascades, Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), NFkB (reviewed in Hempstead, 2002) and RhoA (Yamashita *et al.*, 1999; Neumann *et al.*, 2002). There are also several key differences between these family members, including the variation in the number of ligands that each cognate receptor can bind to: TNFR1 is more limited in the ligands it prefers (e.g., TNF α and LT α), whereas p75-NGFR promiscuously binds to all immature and mature neurotrophins (NGF, BDNF, NT4/5, NT3), as well as non-neurotrophic factors secreted by glial cells such as Nogo, myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), and oligodendrocyte myelin glycoprotein (OMgp) (Bibel and Barde, 2000; Jansen *et al.*, 2007; Wang *et al.*, 2002). Whether these two distinct TNFR family members cooperate during refinement signaling to affect an individual neuron's life/death or morphology is unknown.

In this study, we examine how TNFR family members coordinate their activity to mediate neuronal cell death, axon growth inhibition and neuronal soma size during development. We first found that the closely related TNFR family members, *p75-NGFR*, *TNFR1*, and *DR6* are highly expressed in sympathetic ganglia. We also report that p75-

NGFR requires TNFR1 to transduce BDNF-dependent cell death (unidirectional codependence) and p75NTR and TNFR1 require each other to transduce ligand dependent inhibition of axon growth (bidirectional codependence). The mechanism for this apparent TNFR family codependence appears to be via physical interaction between p75NTR and TNFR1 as measured by co-immunoprecipitation and bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC). Our *in vivo* studies suggest that this functional codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 is also required for proper regulation of sympathetic soma size and target innervation, but not for expediting sympathetic neuron death during development.

Results

Closely related TNFR family members and their ligands are expressed in sympathetic neurons

To determine which death receptors are most similar to p75-NGFR, we performed phylogenetic analysis of all TNFR family members using their rat amino acid sequences as previously described (Dereeper *et al.*, 2008, Fig. 2-1A). We found that p75-NGFR, DR6 and TNFR1 cluster in the same phylogenetic clade, which may explain the similarities in previously reported functions including cell death and axon degeneration (Nikolaev *et al.*, 2009; Barker *et al.*, 2001; Neumann *et al.*, 2002). We next sought to examine the expression pattern of TNFR family members using cDNA from the superior cervical ganglia (SCG) and brain of P0 rats, via RT-PCR (Fig. 2-1B.). Interestingly p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and DR6 display robust expression in SCG. TNFR1 and DR6 also show high expression in the brain, whereas p75-NGFR does not. This observation is consistent with a number of previous studies demonstrating that developmental expression of p75-NGFR is restricted to the PNS and a few subsets of neurons in the CNS (Bibel and Barde, 2000).

The above expression analysis was performed on acutely dissected SCGs or brain. To determine which of these cell types express p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and DR6 and their ligands, we performed RT-PCR using cDNA from dissociated cultures of neurons or glia from sympathetic ganglia (Fig. 2-1D). Developing sympathetic neurons are NGFdependent and glial populations can be eliminated by addition of aphidicolin (Oorschot and Jones, 1989). Maintaining cultures in the presence of NGF and aphidicolin enriched neurons, whereas glia can be enriched by maintaining cultures in the absence of both. We demonstrated that all three of the receptors are expressed in neurons, but only *TNFR1* appears to be enriched in glia (Fig. 2-1E). We also found cell-type specific expression of some of the ligands: $TNF\alpha$ and BDNF were expressed in both neurons and glia, MAGwas specifically expressed in glia and *amyloid precursor protein (APP)* expression was specific to neurons. Because APP and DR6 appear to be the only pair expressed specifically in neurons, this might suggest an autocrine/paracrine mechanism of amyloid products signaling through DR6 during PNS development, which is consistent with previous reports (Nikolaev et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2013).

TNF α or BDNF induce neuronal apoptosis and inhibit axon growth in sympathetic neurons grown in suboptimal NGF

The simultaneous expression of BDNF and TNF α along with their cognate receptors in the SCG led us to ask whether these two death ligands independently antagonize NGF-TrkA survival signaling in sympathetic neurons? Indeed, previous studies have demonstrated that BDNF and TNF α are involved in sympathetic neuron death both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Bamji *et al.*, 1998; Barker *et al.*, 2001). We sought to examine the relative ability of p75-NGFR or TNFR1 to override NGF-TrkA survival signaling. We examined sympathetic neuronal cell death in response to saturating BDNF (250ng/ml) or TNF α (2ng/ml) using sympathetic neurons from postnatal day 0-3 (P0-P3) rats (Fig. 2-2A,B). Neurons were cultured for 36 hours in suboptimal NGF (2ng/ml) or an anti-NGF function-blocking antibody, which display robust survival or death, respectively. Neurons cultured in NGF were also exposed to BDNF or TNF α for 36 hours prior to assessment of survival/death. Consistent with previous reports, we found that both ligands were capable of overcoming suboptimal NGF-TrkA survival signaling to induce apoptosis (Bamji *et al.*, 1998; Barker *et al.*, 2001).

A similar antagonism between p75-NGFR and NGF-TrkA has been observed in the context of axon degeneration and stabilization/growth (Kohn *et al.*, 1999; Singh *et al.*, 2008; Park *et al.*, 2010). We next examined the relative contribution of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in inhibiting axon growth in microfluidic devices, which separates axons from cell bodies (Park *et al.*, 2006). Once axons extend through the microfluidic device, they were imaged, and either maintained in the presence or absence of suboptimal NGF (10ng/ml for axon growth assays) and/or supplemented with BDNF (250ng/ml) or TNFα (2ng/ml) for an additional 24 hours. Notably the suboptimal level of NGF in this context

is five-fold higher than for cell survival suggesting that the threshold concentrations of NGF that are required to suppress p75-NGFR signaling (this demarcates optimal versus suboptimal) depends on functional context (Park *et al.*, 2010). The difference in positive or negative growth between days 0 and 1 was assessed and is represented as an average growth in length over 24 hours (Fig. 2-2C,D). As expected, those maintained in the presence of NGF displayed a positive growth in length, while those maintained without NGF retracted and/or degenerated. Moreover, axon growth was inhibited to similar extents by saturating BDNF or TNF α , suggesting that ligand-induced p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are both capable of actively antagonizing NGF-TrkA dependent axon growth signaling.

The similar abilities of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 to antagonize NGF-TrkA-dependent cell survival and axon growth led us to ask whether these receptors operate in a cooperative or independent manner. We propose 2 models: 1) 'codependent'; where two death receptors require each other to antagonize NGF-TrkA signaling to promote refinement (Fig. 2-3A) or 2) 'Independent': the two receptors function 'independently' to initiate cell death or axon degeneration (Fig. 2-3B). In this model cell death or axon growth inhibition would occur when either receptor is activated independent of the presence of the other. We next seek to examine these models using *in vitro* and *in vivo* loss of function experiments.

p75-NGFR requires TNFR1 but not vice versa for ligand dependent refinement.

If p75-NGFR and TNFR1 work independently rather than co-dependently, then ablating one should not affect the function of the other. However, if they require one another, ablating one receptor should weaken or eliminate the refinement function of the other. Sympathetic neurons from wild type, p75-NGFR^{-/-} and TNFR1^{-/-} mice, were cultured in the presence of NGF and BDNF or TNF α for 36 hours and cell survival was assessed as described in Figure 2-2. BDNF and TNF α efficiently promoted apoptosis of neurons isolated from P0 wild-type mice grown in suboptimal NGF (Fig. 2-4A,B). Interestingly, BDNF does not induce death in neurons isolated from *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} or *TNFR1*^{-/-} suggesting that the pro-death function of BDNF requires the concurrent availability of p75-NGFR and TNFR1. On the other hand, addition of TNF α to *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} neurons displays increased death, suggesting that TNFR1 does not require p75-NGFR to promote ligand-induced apoptosis (Fig. 2-4A,B). These data suggest that in a suboptimal NGF survival paradigm, these receptors display a unidirectional co-dependence where p75-NGFR is dependent on TNFR1 but not vice versa (i.e., TNFR1 induces death independent of p75-NGFR) (Fig. 2-4C). It is also important to note that both p75-NGFR^{-/-} and *TNFR1*^{-/-} neurons were capable of undergoing apoptosis as a result of NGF withdrawal. Rather, these neurons are more susceptible to NGF-withdrawal. These data suggest that NGF deprivation is capable of inducing cell death via mechanisms independent of BDNF- or TNF α -induced cell death.

We next examined whether there is a unidirectional codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in a different function context: inhibition of axon growth. We returned to the paradigm used in Figure 2-2C, where sympathetic axons from $p75-NGFR^{-/-}$ and $TNFR1^{-/-}$ mice are measured after 24 hours in the presence of suboptimal NGF and saturating BDNF or TNF α . Interestingly, the results indicate codependence of the two receptors: adding BDNF to *TNFR1*^{-/-} neurons or adding TNF α to *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} neurons did not suppress axon growth suggesting bidirectional codependence between these two receptors (Fig. 2-4D,E). Interestingly, *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} neurons exhibited greater axon growth with or without exogenous BDNF or TNF α , which may suggest that p75-NGFR plays an additional role in repressing NGF-TrkA signaling in axon growth.

p75-NGFR and TNFR1 physically associate resulting in altered subcellular localization

To understand the nature of codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 toward NGF-TrkA-dependent processes, we asked whether these receptors are physically associated. To this end, we generated HA-tagged p75-NGFR and FLAG-tagged TNFR1 expression constructs (Fig. 2-6A). These constructs were expressed in HEK293 cells followed by analysis of interaction by co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) and immunoblot analysis. In the immunoprecipitated lanes, we detected FLAG-TNFR1 only when HA-p75-NGFR and TNFR1 were expressed, suggesting association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 (Fig. 2-5A).

We next sought to determine the subcellular localization of p75-NGFR/TNFR1 heteromeric complexes compared to their respective homomeric interactions. For this, we used an experimental paradigm where the association of the two receptors can be observed in a single cell assay (Fig. 2-5B). To visualize the association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1, we used bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC), where p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are cloned in frame with split-portions of the Venus fluorescent protein (Nterminus or C-terminus) (Fig. 2-6B) (Hu and Kerppola, 2003). To avoid overexpression, which could lead to inappropriate interaction, these fusion constructs were expressed in the pTRE2hyg vector backbone, a tetracycline-regulated expression system. We expressed the constructs in HEK293 cells cultured in tetracycline-free media in order to maintain minimal "leaky" heterologous expression. As positive- and negative controls, cells expressing TrkA-VN and TrkA-VC were exposed to media with or without 50 ng/ml NGF prior to imaging, respectively. Cells expressing the homomeric pair of p75-NGFR exhibited uniform fluorescence in the cytoplasm and plasma membrane as well as a few intracellular puncta; whereas cells expressing homomeric TNFR1 displayed fluorescent patches suggesting that these receptors have distinct subcellular distributions in the cell (Fig. 2-5C). Each homomeric pair - p75-NGFR or TNFR1- exhibited fluorescence in the absence of its cognate ligand, which is consistent with previous reports (Vilar *et al.*, 2009; Chan *et al.*, 2000). Interestingly, in cells expressing the heteromeric pair of p75-NGFR and TNFR1, punctate fluorescence was similar to homomeric TNFR1. This indicates that the subcellular localization of the p75-NGFR:TNFR1 complex is principally influenced by TNFR1. Localizing p75-NGFR to a particular microenvironment may provide an explanation for the unidirectional codependence observed above where p75NGFR requires TNFR1 (but not vice versa) for ligand-induced death.

p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are bidirectionally codependent *in vivo* for sympathetic soma size regulation

In vitro, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 display unidirectional co-dependence with respect to inhibiting NGF-TrkA dependent survival but bidirectional co-dependence for inhibition of axon growth. We next sought to determine which, if any, of these scenarios also applies *in vivo* using several assays reflecting different aspects of neuronal trophic state: soma size, final target innervation and survival (Deckwerth *et al.*, 1996; Glebova and Ginty, 2004; Deppmann *et al.*, 2008). Observing similar phenotypes between mice null for *p75-NGFR* or *TNFR1* would be consistent with a codependent relationship between these receptors. However, if these receptor knockout animals do not phenocopy each other or if double knockout animals have additive phenotypes we would conclude that these receptors function uniquely or independently, respectively.

We began by examining neuronal size. It has previously been demonstrated that NGF regulates soma size in sympathetic neurons (Deckwerth and Johnson, 1993b). The most extreme example of this is when naturally occurring cell death is blocked in SCGs, as is the case in $Bax^{-/-}$ mice (Deckwerth *et al.*, 1996). These neurons still compete for target-derived NGF but rather than competition resulting in a life or death decision, all the neurons survive. This manipulation has allowed us to study developmental competition programs other than survival/death. To examine soma size, SCGs from P5 mice (a time after the majority of apoptosis would have happened) were cryosectioned and neurons were visualized with Nissl staining (Coggeshall *et al.*, 1990). The areas of neurons displaying nucleolus, which is a characteristic landmark for the center of the cell, was measured and are represented in 3 bins: small (less than 175µm²), medium (175~350µm²), large (more than 350µm²). Comparing wild-type and *Bax*^{-/-} SCGs reveals a shift in soma

size related to competition for target derived NGF: large cells presumably won the competition for NGF and the small neurons presumably lost the competition and would have died if *Bax* was present (Fig. 2-7A). We next used this paradigm to examine how loss of *p75-NGFR* or *TNFR1* influences trophic withdrawal induced sympathetic soma atrophy using *Bax^{-/-}; p75-NGFR^{-/-}* and *Bax^{-/-}; TNFR1^{-/-}*, mice. If the receptors promote cell atrophy, the small soma population will decline compared to the *Bax^{-/-}* phenotype. Remarkably, somas of SCG neurons in *TNFR1^{-/-}; Bax^{-/-}* and *p75-NGFR^{-/-}* mice display size distributions similar to wild-type animals, suggesting that the receptors rescue the neuron size distribution phenotype observed in *Bax^{-/-}* mice (Fig. 2-7A,B) and that TNFR1 and p75-NGFR are both required for promoting cell atrophy during developmental competition for target derived trophic factor (Fig. 2-7C).

p75-NGFR and TNFR1 promote final target innervation both independently and codependently in a context dependent manner

We examined whether p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are co-dependent in the context of target innervation (Glebova and Ginty, 2004). We harvested heart and kidney from P0 mice and examined sympathetic axonal innervation via whole mount tyrosine hydroxylase staining (Glebova and Ginty, 2004). We first examined innervation in the kidney by assessing the degree of axonal tiling from WT, *TNFR1*^{-/-}, *p75-NGFR*^{-/-}, and *TNFR1*^{-/-};*p75-NGFR*^{-/-} mice (Fig. 2-8). Kidneys from wild type mice exhibit axon bundles spread evenly over the surface of the tissue while kidneys from *TNFR1*^{-/-} or *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} mice display axon bundles that remain thick and fasciculated leading to decreased tiling (Fig. 2-9A,B). Interestingly tiling was not further reduced in kidneys from *TNFR1*^{-/-};*p75-NGFR*^{-/-} mice

indicating that these receptors operate co-dependently rather than independently to promote defasciculation and tiling (Fig. 2-9C).

We next assessed sympathetic innervation of hearts from the same animals used for the above kidney analysis. Sympathetic axons entering the heart spread out in part by avoiding one another through an axonal competition process that parallels competition for survival as described previously (Park *et al.*, 2010; Deppmann *et al.*, 2008). We assessed axonal self-avoidance by quantifying the number of axonal crossovers in the heart (Fig. 2-8). Sympathetic axons from *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} and *TNFR1*^{-/-} mice display increase axon crossovers relative to hearts from wild-type mice (Fig. 2-9A,D). Interestingly, hearts from *p75-NGFR*^{-/-};*TNFR1*^{-/-} mice displayed a further elevation of crossover which appears to be additive suggesting that these receptors behave independently to promote axonal self-avoidance (Fig. 2-9E). Taken together, we conclude that the manner in which p75-NGFR and TNFR1 influence final target innervation is context dependent. This context may be specific to the final target being innervated or the process being promoted (i.e., defasciculation or axonal self-avoidance).

p75-NGFR but not TNFR1 promotes developmental death in vivo

We next examined whether p75-NGFR and TNFR1 function codependently in expediting death of sympathetic neurons *in vivo*. To test this idea, we examined neuronal number within SCGs from P0 wild type mice, p75-NGFR^{-/-}, TNFR1^{-/-} and p75-NGFR^{-/-};TNFR1^{-/-} mice as previously described (Deppmann *et al.*, 2008). Surprisingly, we observed no difference in the number of neurons within the SCG between wild type and TNFR1^{-/-}

animals, in contrast to the increase observed in *p75-NGFR*-deficienct animals (Fig. 2-10A). Interestingly, double knockout mice exhibited similar neuronal numbers as *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} mice, suggesting that TNFR1 does not support p75-NGFR in expediting naturally occurring neuron death *in vivo* (Fig. 2-10A). This finding suggests that p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are not codependent, or independent but rather function uniquely in the context of developmental cell death *in vivo* (Fig. 2-10B). This is an outcome that is different than what we observed *in vitro* (Fig. 2-4B,C), which we suggest reflects a fundamental difference in the mechanisms governing apoptosis in these paradigms: (1) Antagonizing survival signals through ligand regulated death receptors or (2) Trophic deprivation, which may still involve death receptors but perhaps not their ligands (Deckwerth & Johnson, 1993b; Nikoletopoulou *et al.*, 2010).

Discussion

Death receptors have been reported to initiate several developmental refinement events during nervous system assembly including: cell death, axon pruning, and inhibition of dendrite formation (Bamji *et al.*, 1998; Barker *et al.*, 2001; Singh *et al.*, 2008; Nikolaev *et al.*, 2009; Neumann *et al.*, 2002). However, it has been unclear whether, or how, those death receptors cooperate. In our study, we have focused on how two death receptors, p75-NGFR and TNFR1, antagonize NGF-TrkA dependent signaling and elucidated three novel characteristics of this combination of death receptors (Fig. 2-11). First, BDNF and TNF α require each other's cognate receptor, p75-NGFR and TNFR1, in order to inhibit axon growth whereas BDNF, but not TNF α , requires both of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 to

cause apoptosis in neurons grown in culture in the presence of suboptimal concentrations of NGF. Second, these receptors associate with TNFR1 moving p75-NGFR to a unique domain within the cell. Third, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 require each other for the regulation of neuronal soma size and axon patterning during target innervation, but not for developmental cell death *in vivo*.

The distinction between independent and codependent TNFR family signaling is provocative because it provides a framework by which refinement signaling can be diversified. We found that different refinement events utilize this diversity in different ways. For example, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 seem to be equally codependent in the context of regulating cell atrophy, ligand-induced axon growth inhibition *in vitro*, and axon patterning in kidney innervation, whereas they appear to be partially codependent in the context of ligand-induced cell death *in vitro* and completely unique in naturally occurring cell death in vivo (Fig. 2-11). Interestingly, in vitro and in vivo death paradigms reveal codependent and independent roles for p75-NGFR and TNFR1, respectively (Fig. 2-4B,C and 2-10A,B). We suggest that this difference between *in vitro* and *in vivo* paradigms may reflect two distinct triggers for neuronal apoptosis: death receptor suppression of survival signaling versus trophic withdrawal, respectively. What is the purpose of such a combinatorial code of TNFR family signaling mediating a diversity of refinement events? It's possible that this is a way in which a single trophic cue like NGF-TrkA might influence several different building events on the same cell by virtue of inhibiting p75-NGFR that is participating in unique, independent and codependent signaling. In this way, a relatively complex combinatorial code of TNFR family prodestruction interactions may act as a rosetta stone to interpret a relatively simple yet highly mobile trophic, pro-construction cue.

How might TNFR family members work together to change one another's signaling properties? In general, these receptors are thought to initiate similar pathways such as JNK, NFKB, Rho, and Caspase8/10 cascades (Locksley et al., 2001; Hempstead, 2002). However, it is possible that individual TNFR family members induce subtle variations in distinct pathways, the combination of which may be sufficient to create diversified outcomes. Alternatively, interaction between family members may be permissive for a particular signaling functionality perhaps through a shift in subcellular locale. A portion of p75-NGFR dependent signaling is thought to require hierarchal cleavage by BACE followed by gamma secretase in order to liberate the intracellular domain (Kenchappa et al., 2010; Kanning et al., 2003). Importantly, BACE and gamma secretase activity are thought to be most active in endosomes and lipid rafts, respectively (Osenkowski et al., 2008; Das et al., 2013). It is known that TNFR1 is enriched in lipid rafts whereas p75NGFR is detected in both raft and non-raft compartments (Cottin *et al.*, 2002; Zhang et al., 2013). Our finding that homomeric TNFR1 as well as p75-NGFR:TNFR1 heteromers exist in punctate microdomains suggests that TNFR1 may deliver p75NGFR to microenvironment(s) necessary for p75-NGFR cleavage and signaling.

Given the size of the TNFR family, as well as the number of co-receptors reported to play a role in their function, we suggest that interaction between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 merely scratches the surface of how many heteromeric receptor combinations are possible. For example, p75-NGFR has been reported to interact with Sortilin which mediates pro-neurotrophin signaling (Nykjaer *et al.*, 2004), Nogo Receptor (NgR) which mediates Nogo, MAG, and OMGp signaling (Wang *et al.*, 2002), and DR6 which mediates N-APP and beta amyloid signaling (Nikolaev *et al.*, 2009; Hu *et al.*, 2013). Future studies will examine the role of codependent signaling in mediating processes that were previously described as Sortilin, NgR, or DR6 dependent. Figure 2-1. TNFR super family expression analysis.

(A) Phylogenetic tree of TNFR super family members generated using their amino acid sequences (Dereeper *et al.*, 2008).

(B) RT-PCR of TNFR super family members. The expression of TNFR super family members was analyzed using mRNA isolated from the superior cervical ganglia (SCG) of P0 rats, via reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Each experiment was performed at least 3 times (n=3).

(C) TNFR superfamily member aliases.

(D) RT-PCR of ligands of TNFR1, p75NGFR and DR6 using mRNA isolated from SCG neurons (n) and glia (g). Neuronal and glial mRNAs were obtained after 4 DIV in the presence or absence of NGF and AraC, respectively. Each experiment was performed at least 3 times (n=3).

(E) Schematic representation of ligand and receptor expression.

Figure 2-1



Neuron Intracellular



Figure 2-2. BDNF and TNF α promote apoptosis and inhibit axon growth *in vitro*. (A) Ligand-induced apoptosis. Dissociated sympathetic neurons were isolated from P0 rats and plated in mass culture on poly-lysine and laminin. Neurons were established in 50ng/ml NGF and Ara-C for 2 days. Cultures were then changed to the indicated conditions: anti-NGF (Millipore catalog#AB927, 1:1000), NGF (2ng/ml), BDNF (250ng/ml), TNF α (2ng/ml) for 36 hours followed by assessment of cell survival via Hoechst staining. Survival in each condition was relative to the survival of neurons grown in NGF (2ng/ml). Each experiment was performed 4 times (n=4) with >100 cells counted for each.

(B) Quantification of (A). p values were determined with one-way ANOVA.

(C) Ligand-induced axon growth inhibition. Dissociated sympathetic neurons from P0 mouse SCG were established in 50ng/ml of NGF for 2 days, then cellbodies (CB) and distal axons (DA) are exposed to 10ng/ml NGF and either 250ng/ml BDNF or 2ng/ml TNFα. An NGF-free medium with anti-NGF (Millipore catalog#AB927, 1:1000) was also used as control. A pancaspase inhibitor, BAF (boc-aspartate fluoromethylketone), was used at 20nM in all conditions to prevent cell death. Individual axons were measured after 24 hours in response to various ligands (anti-NGF: n=12, NGF: n=28, BDNF:n=27, TNF:n=13). Yellow heads: tracked individual axons before and after the media change. (D) Quantification of (C). p values were determined with one-way ANOVA.

Contributions. A: Original pictures taken by Kelvin Chan. B: Cells counted by Irene Cheng. C, D: Original pictures taken and axons measured by Danielle Heffner.

Figure 2-2







Figure 2-3. Models for multiple death receptors to antagonize NGF-TrkA signaling. (A) Codependent model. p75-NGFR and TNFR1 cooperate to generate inhibitory signaling against NGF-TrkA signaling. Activation of both receptors is required to suppress cell survival and axon growth.

(B) Independent model. p75-NGFR and TNFR1 independently generate inhibitory signaling against NGF-TrkA signaling. Activation of either receptor is required.

Figure 2-3



Figure 2-4. Functional codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in ligand-induced cell death and axon growth inhibition *in vitro*.

(A) p75-NGFR and TNFR1 require one another in cell death initiated by BDNF but not TNF *in vitro*.

(B) Quantification of (A). Each experiment was performed 4 times (n=4) with >100 cells counted for each. p values were determined with two-way ANOVA.

(C) Schematic of TNFR1-dependent p75NGFR death signaling representing unidirectional codependence.

(D) p75-NGFR and TNFR1 require each other in ligand-induced axon growth inhibition. p values were determined with one-way ANOVA. The counted number of individual axons for each condition was as below: in WT, anti-NGF:n=11, NGF:n=28, BDNF:n=26, TNF:n=12. In *p75-NGFR*^{-/-}, anti-NGF:n=5, NGF:n=23, BDNF:n=21, TNF:n=25. In *TNFR1*^{-/-}, anti-NGF:n=21, NGF:n=29, BDNF:n=36, TNF:n=35.

(E) Schematic of codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in ligand-induced axon growth inhibition *in vitro*.

Contributions. A: Original pictures taken by Kelvin Chan and Irene Cheng. B: Cells counted by Irene Cheng. D: Axons measured by Danielle Heffner.

Figure 2-4





Figure 2-4 (continued)



Figure 2-5. Interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1.

(A) Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 constructs using HEK293 cells. The experiment was performed at least 4 times (n=4).

(B) Schematic of bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC).

(C) Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 constructs using HEK293 cells. As a positive control, cells expressing TrkA-VN and TrkA-VC were exposed to media containing NGF 50 ng/ml for 15 minutes prior to imaging. In comparison, as a negative control, cells expressing TrkA-VN and TrkA-VC were maintained in media without NGF prior to imaging. Transfected cells were imaged using fluorescence excitation at 514 nm. Scale bar: 5 μ m. The experiment was performed at least 3 times (n=3).

Contributions. C: Pictures taken by Irene Cheng and Kazusa Edamura.



Figure 2-6. Schematic representation of DNA constructs and BiFC of additional combination.

(A) HA-p75-NGFR and FLAG-TNFR1. HA and FLAG are inserted between signal sequence and mature peptide sequence of p75-NGFR and TNFR1, respectively.

(B) p75-VN, p75-VC, TNFR1-VN and TNFR1-VC.

(C) Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) of additional combination of p75-NGFR and/or TNFR1 constructs using HEK293 cells. Transfected cells were imaged using fluorescence excitation at 514 nm. Scale bar: 5 μ m. The experiment was performed at least 3 times (n=3).

Contributions. C: Pictures taken by Irene Cheng.







С

p75-VN	p75-VC	TNFR1-VN	TNFR1-VC	TNFR1-VN + p75-VC
*	*	*	*	*

Figure 2-7. Cooperativity of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in sympathetic soma size distribution *in vivo*.

(A) Loss of *p75-NGFR* or *TNFR1* rescue altered cell body size distribution observed in Bax^{-/-} SCGs. p values were determined with one-way ANOVA. n=3 at least for all genotypes with ~200 cells counted for each. Bottom panels shows higher magnification of area encompassed in the white rectangle in the upper panel. Blue arrow: large soma (>350 μ m²), Red arrow: medium soma (175-350 μ m²), Green arrow: small soma (<175 μ m²).

(B) quantification of (A).

(C) Schematic for codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in cell size regulation *in vivo*.

Contributions: A, B: Original pictures taken and cell size measured by Catherine Jansch.

Figure 2-7

Α





Figure 2-8. Quantification of axonal patterning in kidney and heart in vivo.

To quantify axonal tiling of sympathetic kidney innervation, 3 parallel lines were placed so that the middle line (Line 2) overlies the major axis of the oval shape of a kidney. The number of axons crossing with Line 1, 2 and 3 was quantified in each kidney. Arrows on the enlarged image denote actual counting of axons crossing Line 2 in wild type kidney. At least 3 kidneys were examined per genotype. To assess the degree of axonal crossovers of sympathetic innervation on heart, the number of crossovers along the length of an individual axon was examined. At least 5 axonal regions were examined per heart. Arrows on the enlarged image shows actual counting of axonal crossovers in Axon 4. At least 3 hearts were analyzed per genotype.

Contributions: Original pictures taken by Danielle Heffner.

Figure 2-8





Figure 2-9. Cooperativity of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in axon patterning during sympathetic target innervation *in vivo*.

(A) Ligand dependent p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are required for proper sympathetic innervation of kidney and heart. Whole-mount tyrosine hydroxylase immunostaining of P0 mouse kidneys and hearts were taken from Wild-type (wt), $TNFR1^{-/-}$, $p75^{-/-}$, and $TNFR1^{-/-}$; $p75^{-/-}$ (DKO) mice. Blue arrow heads indicate fasciculated axon bundles and black arrow heads indicate abnormally crossed-over axons. Each experiment was performed at least 3 times (n=3).

(B) Quantification of axon bundle tiling on kidneys shown in (A). At least 6 lines were analyzed per condition. p values were determined with one-way ANOVA.

(C) Schematic for codependence between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in sympathetic axon patterning during kidney innervation *in vivo*.

(D) Quantification of axonal crossovers on hearts shown in (A). At least 10 individual axons were analyzed per condition. At least 3 hearts per genotype were analyzed. p values were determined with one-way ANOVA.

(E) Schematic for independent roles of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in sympathetic axon patterning during heart innervation *in vivo*.

Contributions: A: Original pictures taken by Danielle Heffner.

Figure 2-9





С





NGF-TrkA signaling endosome



Е



Figure 2-10. p75-NGFR, but not TNFR1, is required in developmental neuron death *in vivo*.

(A) The neuronal number was counted using central profiling on 10 μ m mouse SCG sections after Nissl-stained. p values were determined with one-way ANOVA. WT:n=6, *TNFR1*^{-/-}:n=6, *p75*^{-/-}:n=7, DKO:n=5.

(B) Schematic for unique functions in promoting developmental apoptosis p75-NGFR and TNFR1 *in vivo*.

Contributions. A: Cells counted by Catherine Jansch.
Figure 2-10



Figure 2-11. Model for p75-NGFR and TNFR1 cooperation during sympathetic nervous system development.

Four characteristics of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 cooperation. *Bidirectional codependence*: BDNF and TNF α require each other's cognate receptor - p75-NGFR and TNFR1 - in order to inhibit axon growth. *Unidirectional codependence (TNFR1-dependent p75-NGFR signaling)*: BDNF, but not TNF α , requires both p75-NGFR and TNFR1 to cause apoptosis in neurons grown in culture in the presence of suboptimal concentrations of NGF. *Independent*: p75-NGFR and TNFR1 do not require one another to influence a particular function as is the case in axon restriction during heart innervation. *Unique (TNFR1-independent p75-NGFR signaling)*: p75-NGFR and TNFR1 do not require one another and do not influence the same processes function as is the case in expediting neuron death *in vivo*.

Figure 2-11



Chapter 3

Preliminary Results on the Interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1

Association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 is possibly ligand-independent

In Chapter 2, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 have been found to interact with each other. However, the molecular basis of this complex is completely unknown. To examine whether addition of ligands enhances or diminishes the association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1, HA-tagged p75-NGFR and FLAG-tagged TNFR1 were expressed in HEK293 cells and then the cells were cultured with 200 ng/ml BDNF or 40 ng/ml TNF α in order to perform co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP). HA-p75-NGFR was immunoprecipitated and FLAG-TNFR1 as well as HA-p75-NGFR were detected by immunoblot (Fig. 3-1). The immunoprecipitated lanes show that a similar level of association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in the absence or presence of BDNF or TNF α . This implies that the association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 may be ligand-independent just like pre-ligand assembly.

Localization of p75-NGFR on neurites is upregulated after NGF deprivation

If adding their ligands does not impact formation of the p75-NGFR/TNFR1 complex, perhaps localization of the two receptors is regulated in response to changes in the trophic environment. NGF deprivation is a great candidate for regulating localization of dependence receptors including p75-NGFR. Thus, I hypothesized that localization of p75-NGFR on cell surface is responsive to NGF deprivation. To test this idea, primary culture of sympathetic neurons from P0 wild type rats was established and maintained in 50 ng/ml of NGF for 14 days until the neurons form a typical neuronal morphology with fully extended neurites. Neurons were then deprived of NGF for 90 minutes and immunostained using p75-NGFR antibody. The results show that localization of p75-NGFR on neurites is upregulated after NGF deprivation (Fig 3-2). This suggests that the absence of NGF can induce the localization of p75-NGFR on cell membrane.

Transmembrane domain similarity analysis of p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and DR6.

It is now established that pre-ligand binding assembly is a common feature of TNFR family members including TNFR1, TNFR2, p75-NGFR and DR5. Of these, TNFR1, TNFR2 and DR5 form homooligomers via their first cysteine-rich domains whereas p75-NGFR does so via its transmembrane cysteine (Chan et al., 2001; Mukai et al., 2010; Vilar et al., 2009; Valley et al., 2012). Interestingly, Valley and colleagues show that DR5 trimers dimerize and form a highly organized receptor network on the cell membrane. The dimerization of receptor-trimers is through a specific cysteine and two glycines in the DR5 transmembrane domain (Valley et al., 2012). This led me to hypothesize that TNFR1 and p75-NGFR may interact with each other via their cysteines in their transmembrane regions. To assess this idea, I first analyzed the similarity of the amino acid sequences of the transmembrane region of mouse p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and DR6, using an automated program called PRALINE Multiple Sequence Alignment (http://www.ibi.vu.nl/programs/pralinewww/). The results show that both TNFR1 and DR6 possess a cysteine (mouse TNFR1-C224, mouse DR6-C368) near C257 of p75-

NGFR, through which p75-NGFR is known to form a homodimer. This suggests that p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and DR6 have a possibility of forming a heterodimer through these cysteines. Next I asked whether C224 of TNFR1 is conserved among different species. Now the amino acid sequences of TNFR1 transmembrane domains from mouse, Xenopus and zebrafish were analyzed. The results indicate that the C224 of mouse TNFR1 is not conserved among the species. This suggests that perhaps TNFR1-C224 does not play the same "hinge" role as p75-NGFR-C257, which is, in contrast, conserved among difference species including mouse, Xenopus and zebrafish (Vilar et al., 2009). Thus, possible binding site of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 would be either in extracellular or intracellular domain.

Figure 3-1. Association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 is possibly ligand-independent. HEK293 cells expressing HA-tagged p75-NGFR and FLAG-tagged TNFR1 were cultured with 200 ng/ml BDNF and/or 40 ng/ml TNFα in order to perform coimmunoprecipitation (co-IP). HA-p75-NGFR was immunoprecipitated and FLAG-TNFR1 as well as HA-p75-NGFR was detected by immunoblot.

Figure 3-2. Localization of p75-NGFR on neurites is upregulated after NGF deprivation. Sympathetic neurons from P0 wild type rats were established and maintained in 50 ng/ml of NGF for 14 days. Neurons were then deprived of NGF for 90 minutes and immunostained for p75-NGFR. Figure 3-1.







Figure 3-3. Transmembrane domain similarity analysis of p75-NGFR, TNFR1, and DR6. (A) Sequences of the transmembrane region of mouse p75-NGFR, TNFR1, and DR6 as well as sequences of the transmembrane region of TNFR1 from Xenopus TNFR1 and zebrafish. (B) Sequence similarity analysis of the transmembrane region of mouse p75-NGFR, TNFR1, and DR6. Sequences were analyzed using PRALINE Multiple Sequence Alignment (<u>http://www.ibi.vu.nl/programs/pralinewww/</u>). (C) Sequence similarity analysis of the transmembrane region of TNFR1 from mouse, Xenopus and zebrafish. Figure 3-3

A mouse p75 TM mouse TNFR1 mouse DR6 TM Xenopus TNFR1 zebrafish TNFR1	(253-275 aa) TM (212-234 aa) / (351-370 aa) /TM 1 TM	NLIPVYCSIL AVLLPLVILL PWMIVLFLLL YWLYALLGLLS IVVPVCASIMV	AAVVVGLVAYIAF GLCLLSFIFISLM VLVLIVVCS /ICLAGVTLFIV LSLAIFMAYEGI	
B Unconserved 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Conserved				
mouse_p75 mouse_TNFR1 mouse_DR6 Consistency	- N L I P V Y C A V L L P - L V P W M I 0 0 3 2 * 0 4 4	. 10 SI LAAVV IL LGLCL VL FLLLV 4862547	20 VGLVA YIAF- LSFI- FISLM LVLIV VCS 7269145710	
С		. 10	20	•
mouse_TNFR1	A V <mark>L</mark> L P L V I	L <mark>L GL</mark> CL	<mark>lsfifis</mark> lm-	
xenopus_TNFR1 zebrafish_TNFR1	YWLYALLG	ST MVLS	LAGVTL FIV-	 - T
Consistency	0 3 7 4 5 7 4 2	5 8 3 7 4 2	* 7 0 9 4 6 3 4 3 0)0

76

Chapter 4:

Preliminary results on the molecular mechanisms of p75-dependent synapse restriction.

Introduction

The functional nervous system is encoded by the specificity of its synaptic connections. Errors in the number, location, timing and type of synaptic connection during development lead to abnormal nervous system function. Understanding not only the mechanisms that trigger neuronal synaptogenesis, but also the mechanisms that inhibit improper synapse formation is important.

Peripheral nervous system development requires cell extrinsic trophic factors, which activate intrinsic signaling cascades to initiate a hierarchy of developmental events (Bibel and Barde, 2000). One class of trophic factors that is particularly important for nervous system development and function is the neurotrophin family. Mammals utilize four neurotrophins: nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT3) and neurotrophin-4 (NT-4). There are 2 different classes of neurotrophin receptors: (i) a family of receptor tyrosine kinases, termed the Trks; and (ii) the p75 neurotrophin receptor. Each Trk family member binds to a specific neurotrophin as follows: NGF-TrkA, BDNF-TrkB, NT3-TrkC, whereas p75 displays promiscuous binding with all neurotrophins (Bibel and Barde, 2000).

The spatial and temporal pattern of signaling by neurotrophins and their receptors regulates the development of all populations of peripheral neurons. In a simple model system, the sympathetic nervous system, NGF secreted from target organs binds to neuronal TrkA on the distal axon. This leads to endocytosis of the NGF-TrkA complex herein referred to as the signaling endosome. It is trafficked retrogradely toward the cell body, where it engages transcriptional programs that support neuronal survival and axon growth (Ibanez et al., 1992; Kohn et al., 1999). Conversely, p75 is reported to function antagonistically to TrkA; it causes neuronal death and axon degeneration (Bamji et al., 1998; Kohn et al., 1999). As a mechanism of cross talk, NGF-TrkA silencing of p75 is implicated (Majdan et al., 2001). Importantly, high levels of TrkA activation is observed to dominantly suppress p75 signaling. This suggests that there exists a threshold of TrkA signaling that is the key determinant for the choice between neuron survival/death (Bamji et al., 1998) and axon growth/degeneration (Singh et al., 2008). Recently, Deppmann and colleagues discovered that this antagonistic framework governed by NGF-TrkA and p75 also holds true for synapse formation in sympathetic ganglia (Sharma et al., 2010). This antagonistic framework, more specifically the inhibitory function of p75, plays an important role to regulate the location and timing of sympathetic synaptogenesis.

Sympathetic synaptic connections are made between preganglionic neurons from the spinal cord and postganglionic dendrites from neurons in sympathetic ganglia (Glebova and Ginty, 2005). It has long been debated which synaptic component (pre- versus post-) determines when and where a synapse is formed. The finding from Deppmann and colleagues indicates that the postsynaptic specialization can drive differentiation of the

presynaptic specialization. This suggests that components of the postsynaptic density (PSD) signals to the presynaptic axon. The PSD is made up of a highly dense and complex structure consisting of neurotransmitter receptors and proteins associated with scaffolding, cell adhesion, signaling, and cytoskeletal tethering (Sheng and Hoogenraad, 2007).

The molecular basis by which p75 restricts synapse formation remains completely unknown, mainly due to the complicated postsynaptic architecture of the synapse. Not only are the targets of p75 signaling within the PSD unknown, the specific p75-dependent signal is also unknown. Part of the challenge in defining these signals lies in the complex nature of p75 activation. It displays promiscuous interaction with many different ligands yielding different modes of activation and engagement of various downstream signaling pathways (Fig. 4-1). The three modes of p75 activation include: (i) liberation of the p75 intracellular domain (ICD) via proteolytic cleavage by several secretases such as β -, γ secretases, and tumor necrosis factor α converting enzyme (TACE); (ii) conformational change of p75 dimers upon engagement by a subset of ligands; and (iii) heterodimerization between p75 and a co-receptor upon engagement of a different subset of ligands (Gentry et al., 2004). Beyond the mode of activation, the pathways downstream of p75 that are critical for synapse restriction remain unknown. Potential downstream p75 signaling includes activation of NF-kB, c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK), caspases, and RhoA (Chao, 2003).

It is possible that other p75 family member(s) also participate in synapse restriction. p75 is member 16 of the tumor necrosis factor receptor super family. Interestingly, two other members of this family: (i) tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR1, also known as TNFR super family member 1A) and (ii) death receptor 6 (DR6, also known as TNFR super family member 21) have been reported to mediate cell death and axon degeneration, respectively, in developing sympathetic neurons (Barker et al., 2001; Nikolaev et al., 2009). Although these family members have been widely studied in several systems beyond neurodevelopment, there have been no reports describing whether they are functionally redundant or working together in a single pathway. Thus, whether (and how) p75, TNFR1 and DR6 crosstalk during neuronal development is completely unknown. Moreover, whether TNFR1 and DR6 can induce synapse restriction is also unknown.

Results and Discussion

β-, γ -secretases are required for p75-dependent synapse restriction.

As described in Background, different modes of p75 oligomerization can lead to activation of diverse downstream pathways. One mechanism by which downstream pathways are activated is through a series of secretase-mediated cleavage events eventually leading to ICD liberation, which activates further signaling and transcriptional programs. To preliminarily examine the requirement of the secretases in restricting synapse formation, pharmacological inhibitors against β - and γ -secretases (compound E and BACEI, respectively) were added to sympathetic mature neurons cultured until they fully extend dendrites. Following immunostaining the neurons for a PSD marker using a Maguk (Membrane-associated guanylate kinase) antibody, PSD clustering was measured by examining the number of fluorescent puncta per unit length of dendrites. The PSD levels were elevated by addition of secretase inhibitors in the absence of NGF (Fig. 4-2). This is suggestive of a requirement of the p75 ICD in p75-dependent synapse restriction. However, addition of the inhibitors did not increase the number of PSDs in the presence of NGF relative to the control (Fig. 4-2). This suggests that β - and/or γ -secretases cannot reduce PSD clustering when NGF-TrkA signaling is high, implying that sufficient levels of NGF-TrkA signaling may inhibit β - and/or γ -secretases. The results regarding ICD liberation demand further molecular interrogation.

p75 signals through Rho, but not JNK, to restrict synapse formation.

Among downstream players of p75, JNK and RhoA are particularly good candidates for synapse restriction due to their reported involvement related to synapse functions in the CNS (Zhu et al., 2005; Margolis et al., 2010). To test if these downstream players restrict synapse formation in sympathetic neurons, pharmacological inhibitors were added to primary cultures. In the absence of NGF, more PSD clustering was observed in the presence of RhoA inhibitor (CT04) while no difference was observed in presence of JNK inhibitor (SP600125) (Fig. 4-3). These results suggest that RhoA, but not JNK, is involved in synapse restriction. Interestingly, in the presence of NGF the RhoA- and JNK inhibitors could not reduce the number of PSD clustering compared to control, suggesting that RhoA requires low NGF-TrkA signaling to restrict synapse formation. These data

imply that NGF-TrkA signaling inhibits activation of RhoA. Whether RhoA is sufficient to suppress PSD clustering and the signaling pathways downstream of RhoA, which are relevant to synapse restriction would be worthwhile topics for future investigations.

Activation of TNFR1 phenocopies p75-dependent synapse restriction.

p75 and TNFR1 have both been shown to induce sympathetic neuron death. Why have 2 receptors performing the same function(s)? I hypothesized that TNF receptor family members activate either independent pathways or may work together in an interdependent pathway. To test whether TNFR1 is able to restrict synapses, TNF α , the cognate ligand for TNFR1 was added to cultured wild type rat neurons. BDNF was also added as a control to activate p75. TNF α was indeed able to suppress PSD clustering similar to what is observed with p75 activation (Fig. 4-4). Interestingly, concurrent addition of BDNF and TNF α led to a similar reduction of PSD clustering compared to the PSD level affected by the addition of BDNF or TNF α . This implies that p75 and TNFR1 may cooperate to suppress synapse formation. Assuming TNF α specifically activates TNFR1, these data indicate that there is overlapping function between p75 and TNFR1 in synapse restriction, as well as in axon growth inhibition, axon patterning on target and cell size regulation as previously discussed in Chapter 2. The further molecular basis for their redundant functions should be examined.

Ligand-activation of TNFR1 restricts PSD clustering in a p75-dependent manner.

This functional overlap could arise from these receptors initiating separate parallel pathways, or participating in a single pathway to suppress synapse formation. Therefore, I next sought to examine PSD clustering in the absence of p75. Using p75-/- mouse neurons, I examined the ability of $TNF\alpha$ or BDNF to restrict synapse formation. As expected, BDNF was no longer able to suppress PSD clustering due to a lack of its cognate receptor. Surprisingly, TNF α was also unable to suppress PSD clustering even though the TNFR1 locus remained intact (Fig. 4-5). This preliminary observation supports the idea that they participate in a single pathway to restrict synapses, rather than independent parallel pathways. This codependent relationship of p75 and TNFR1 is consistent with what was observed in axon growth inhibition in vitro as well as axon patterning and cell size regulation in vivo as previously described. As a molecular mechanism by which p75 and TNFR1 cooperate during sympathetic nervous system, interaction of the two receptors on cell surface is suggested in Chapter 2. One way to pursue the role of p75 and TNFR1 in synapse restriction would be to examine whether or not association of p75 and TNFR1 inhibits PSD clustering in the vicinity of the p75/TNFR1 complex. Furthermore, whether β - and γ - secretase activity induces formation of the p75/TNFR1 complex could be an interesting potential future endeavor.

Figure 4-1. Modes of activation and downstream signaling effectors of p75.

Different ligands yield different modes of activation and engage various downstream signaling effectors. The identified ligands are: the neurotrophins (NGF, BDNF, NT-4, NT-3) as well as non-neurotrophins such as Nogo, myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG) and oligodendrocyte myelin glycoprotein (OMG). However, which ligand causes which mode of activation or downstream effectors is not clearly known. Abbreviations: extracellular domain (ECD), intracellular domain (ICD), β -secretase (β), γ -secretases (γ).



less PSD clustering

Figure. 4-2. β -, γ -secretases are required for p75-dependent synapse restriction. Wild type rat neurons were treated in culture medium containing 100 nM Compound E (γ -secretase inhibitor), or 10 μ M BACEI (β -secretase inhibitor) for 3 hours. In the minus NGF condition, the culturing medium contained 1 μ g/ml anti-NGF. p values were determined with Student's T-test.

Figure. 4-3. p75 signals through RhoA, but not JNK, to restrict synapse formation. Wild type rat neurons were treated in culture medium containing 4 ng/ml CT04 (Rho inhibitor), or 25 nM SP600125 (JNK inhibitor) for 3 hours. In the minus NGF condition, the culturing medium contained 1 μ g/ml anti-NGF. p values were determined with Student's T-test.





Figure 4-3



Figure 4-4. Activation of TNFR1 phenocopies p75-dependent synapse restriction. Wild type rat neurons were treated in culture medium containing i) 1 μg/ml anti-NGF and ii) BDNF 250 ng/ml, TNFα 2 ng/ml, or nothing as control overnight. Anti-NGF was added to lower NGF-TrkA signaling. p values were determined with Student's T-test.

Figure 4-5. TNFα restricts PSD clustering in a p75-dependent manner.

p75-/- mouse neurons were treated in culture medium containing i) 1 µg/ml anti-NGF and ii) BDNF 250 ng/ml, TNF α 2 ng/ml, or nothing as control overnight. p values were determined with Student's T-test.





Wildtype Rat neurons, anti NGF







Chapter 5

Discussion and Future Directions

Crosstalk between NGF-TrkA signaling and p75-NGFR/TNFR1 signaling

It is a prevailing view that NGF-TrkA signaling promotes neuronal survival and axon maintenance whereas activation of p75-NGFR by BDNF suppresses those functions by overriding NGF-TrkA signaling (Bamji et al., 1998; Kohn et al., 1999; Singh et al., 2008). In Chapter 2, this was modeled *in vitro* by culturing neurons in suboptimal levels NGF with BDNF or TNFα.

How do neurons respond when there is no NGF-TrkA signaling? As previously shown in Figure 2-4, wild type, *p75-NGFR*-null and *TNFR1*-null neurons showed low survival and axon growth when NGF was deprived (-NGF) whereas high survival and axon growth was observed in the suboptimal level of NGF (+NGF) (Fig. 2-4B,D). These data suggest that neuronal death and axon growth inhibition induced by NGF deprivation do not require p75-NGFR or TNFR1. This implies that inhibitory functions of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 take place by suppressing NGF-TrkA signaling, which is consistent with the previous report showing antagonizing effects of BDNF-activated p75-NGFR against NGF-TrkA signaling in neuron survival and neurite growth (Bamji et al., 1998; Kohn et al., 1999), as well as our codependence model where p75-NGFR and TNFR1 cause cell death and axon growth inhibition by antagonizing NGF-TrkA signaling (Fig. 2-3A).

In order for p75-NGFR to override NGF-TrkA signaling, suboptimal levels of NGF are required. The level of NGF that can be overridden by p75-NGFR depends on the developmental context (Kohn et al., 1999; Singh et al, 2008). In Chapter 2, the suboptimal level of NGF used in the *in vitro* cell death assay was 2 ng/ml. The same cell death assay using wild type neurons at higher levels of NGF will exhibit less death in the presence of NGF and BDNF because BDNF-p75-NGFR signaling is shown to be unable to override NGF-TrkA signaling when NGF levels are high (10 ng/ml) (Bamji et al., 1998). Likewise, TNF α addition to higher levels of NGF should not cause cell death in wild type neurons as previously shown by Barker and colleagues (Barker et al, 2001). Thus, the apoptotic effect of TNF α in *p75-NGFR*-null neurons observed in Figure 2-4B may be blocked at higher levels of NGF. Then, do ligand-activated p75-NGFR and TNFR1 enhance their signaling to cause cell death in lower levels of NGF? The *in vitro* cell death assay in lower levels of NGF will probably display similar promoting effects of BDNF and TNF α relative to what was observed at 2 ng/ml NGF, as addition of TNF α has been demonstrated to promote cell death at <1 ng/ml NGF (Barker et al., 2001). Taken together, ligand-activated p75-NGFR and TNFR1 will override NGF-TrkA signaling to cause cell death when NGF levels are not high ($\leq 2 \text{ ng/ml}$), probably leading to TNFR1dependent p75-NGFR signaling and p75-NGFR-independent TNFR1 signaling as previously observed at 2 ng/ml NGF. However, when NGF levels are high (>10 ng/ml), death signaling generated by BDNF-p75-NGFR and TNFα-TNFR1 will not be capable of antagonizing NGF-TrkA signaling to cause cell death. In the context of axon degeneration or axon growth inhibition, on the other hand, crosstalk of NGF-TrkA and

p75-NGFR/TNFR1 signaling has been understudied. In Chapter 2, the suboptimal level of NGF used in the *in vitro* axon growth measurement assay was 10 ng/ml. If NGF-TrkA signaling can be similarly overridden at low levels of NGF (<10 ng/ml), but not at high levels (>10 ng/ml), the same axon growth assay using wild type neurons at higher levels of NGF would show rescue of axon growth inhibition when BDNF or TNF α is added, whereas the same assay at lower levels of NGF would display similar inhibitory effects by BDNF and TNF α in promoting further inhibition of axon growth in the presence of BDNF or TNF α , compared to that of low NGF only. Further investigation is required to identify how crosstalk between NGF-TrkA signaling and p75-NGFR/TNFR1 signaling takes place in axon growth.

One attractive molecular mechanism by which ligand-activated p75-NGFR and TNFR1 antagonize NGF-TrkA signaling is attenuation of ERK phosphorylation. When BDNF- activated p75-NGFR overrides NGF-TrkA signaling, phosphorylation of ERK, a downstream pathway of NGF-TrkA signaling, is attenuated (Singh et al., 2008). Since activation of ERK is a function of TrkA activation, low level of ERK phosphorylation attenuated by addition of BDNF to suboptimal NGF might be regarded as a similar result caused by low TrkA activation by low levels of NGF. Examination of ERK phosphorylation in the presence of TNF α and suboptimal NGF should reveal whether ERK is also a target attenuated by TNF α -TNFR1 signaling.

Distinct requirements of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 for NGF-deprivation-induced neuron death *in vitro* and developmental neuron death *in vivo*

NGF deprivation is a classic in vitro model of developmental neuron death. However, it does not perfectly mimic molecular properties of neurons during developmental cell death in vivo. As previously mentioned above, NGF-deprivation-induced cell death in *vitro* was observed in all of wild type, *p75-NGFR*-null and *TNFR1*-null neurons in the anti-NGF condition, suggesting p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are not required to cause NGFdeprivation death (Fig. 2-4B). In comparison, developmental cell death in vivo requires p75-NGFR, but not TNFR1 (Fig. 2-10A). This discrepancy may be due to fundamental difference between the two experimental paradigms. Whereas the sympathetic neurons used *in vitro* assays were separated from target organs and glial cells, cell-cell communication with them was retained in neurons analyzed in vivo. This may be an explanation for the heterogeneous requirement of p75-NGFR and TNFR1. Perhaps target organs or glial cells secrete an additional trophic factor *in vivo*, which can be overridden by p75-NGFR, but not by TNFR1. Lack of such a trophic factor *in vitro* may relatively strengthen TNFR1's capability of killing neurons. This may be the reason why TNFR1 could not cause apoptosis in *p75-NGFR*-null mice in vivo whereas TNF α -activated TNFR1 could kill *p75-NGFR*-null neurons *in vitro*.

Developmental neuron death in the sympathetic neurons requires TNF and p75-NGFR, but not TNFR1, BDNF or NT4 *in vivo*

As stated in the neurotrophic theory, developing sympathetic neurons compete for a limited amount of target-derived NGF and superfluous neurons undergo apoptosis due to

the failure to acquire NGF. p75-NGFR facilitates this NGF-deprivation-induced apoptotic process. However, whether NGF-deprivation induces a death ligand to promote cell death has remained unknown and controversial. One great candidate is BDNF, which has been shown to cause cell death in developing sympathetic neurons via p75-NGFR both in vitro and in vivo (Bamji et al., 1998). However, a different report indicates that BDNF and NT4 do not affect the neuronal number at SCG (Liu et al., 1995). As shown in Appendix 3, the data in this thesis support the latter, as the sympathetic neuronal number of SCG from $BDNF^{\prime/-}$; $NT4^{\prime/-}$ mice is not significantly different from that of wild type controls (Fig. A-3F). This eliminates neurotrophins as possible ligands activating p75-NGFR during the sympathetic developmental neuron death in vivo. Then what is activating p75-NGFR to facilitate the developmental cell death *in vivo*? Jensen and colleagues have eliminated sortilin as a possibility by showing that neonatal Sortilin-deficient mice have a similar number of neurons in the SCG compared to controls (Jensen et al., 2007). Myelinderived molecules including MAG, Nogo, and Ompg, activate RhoA, however this signaling does not overlap with activation of JNK or caspase cascade, so these ligands are not capable of directly causing apoptosis either (Yamashita and Tohyama, 2003). Taken together, these data imply that p75-NGFR is activated either without ligands or by an unidentified ligand. Here it is interesting to note that TrkA is required to cause cell death in a p75-dependent manner and that p75-NGFR and TrkA interact through their intracellular domain (Nikoletopoulou et al., 2010; Iacaruso et al., 2011). It may be possible that interaction of TrkA and p75-NGFR generate death signaling to cause developmental neuron death *in vivo*. One potential future direction to test this idea is to ask whether TrkA and p75-NGFR form a complex after NGF withdrawal as well as

whether inhibiting the association of these two receptors can rescue cell death from NGF deprivation in sympathetic neurons.

Furthermore, we found that TNF is required in the apoptotic process in vivo (Appendix 3, Fig. A-3F). This makes the scenario more puzzling, because it has been established that the apoptotic function of TNF α is exerted via its death receptor, TNFR1 (Barker et al., 2001). This raises an additional question of how TNF transduces the apoptotic signaling. Does TNF act through p75-NGFR as its novel ligand? This possibility is eliminated by the *in vitro* experiment in Chapter 2. If $TNF\alpha$ acts through p75-NGFR to cause apoptosis, adding TNF α to *TNFR1*-null neurons, where p75-NGFR is intact, would kill the neurons. However, the data show that the TNF α addition does not cause apoptosis in *TNFR1*-null neurons in vitro (Fig. 2-4B). This suggests that TNFa is not capable of activating p75-NGFR to cause apoptosis. Additionally, the ligand-receptor binding screen performed by Bossen and colleagues does not support the TNF-p75-NGFR binding (Bossen et al., 2006). In their report, all possible ligand-receptor combinations were comprehensively examined using 20 human TNF family members, 20 mouse TNF family members, and 28 human TNFR family members as well as 28 mouse TNFR family members. In their results, no interaction was observed between TNF and p75-NGFR. How TNF transduces death signaling to cause cell death requires further investigation.

p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are required to inhibit axon growth *in vitro* and promote proper axon patterning on target *in vivo*

Aside from apoptosis, axon-refining functions of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 were examined. The *in vitro* study shows that 1) TNF α -induced axon growth inhibition does not occur in p75-NGFR-deficient neurons, and 2) BDNF-induced axon growth inhibition is also blocked in *TNFR1*-deficient neurons (Fig. 2-4D). Since both ligands can activate their cognate death receptors and inhibit axon growth in wild type neurons, this study is the first evidence that p75-NGFR and TNFR1 require one another to inhibit axon growth upon stimulus of death ligands. This implies that TNFR1 is actively involved in the p75-NGFR signaling induced by myelin-derived molecules. MAG, Nogo, and OMgp activate RhoA in downstream via the receptor complex of p75-NGFR, NgR and Lingo1, and this results in axon growth inhibition (Yamashita et al., 1999). Perhaps TNFR1 may be also required in the receptor complex of p75-NGFR, NgR and Lingo1. The biochemical and microscopic study showing association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 supports this idea. One possible future endeavor would be to test whether TNFR1 co-localizes with NgR and Lingo1. Understanding the precise formation of the receptor complex may provide an easier therapeutic target for axonal injury.

Furthermore, the *in vivo* study using the kidney and heart shows that axon patterning is regulated by p75-NGFR and TNFR1 on both targets but slightly differently. In kidney innervation, sympathetic axons of single receptor KO mice as well as DKO mice remain in thick bundles and less evenly innervate the target (Fig. 2-9). This suggests that p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are equally important and required to properly distribute axons on target via repulsive signaling. However, the axon patterning in the DKO kidney shows slightly more severe impairment than *p75-NGFR*-null- or *TNFR1*-null neurons. This

suggests that the mechanism for cooperation of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in axon patterning on the kidney might not be quite the same as what was seen in the axon growth inhibition *in vitro*. One possibility is that p75-NGFR in this situation is capable of influencing several Rho GTPases, including RhoA and Rac1, and that cooperation with TNFR1 is required in only RhoA activation. Indeed, proNGF decreases Rac1 activity via p75-NGFR/Sortilin and causes growth cone collapse in hippocampal neurons *in vitro* (Deinhardt et al., 2011). An examination of whether p75-NGFR influences both activities of RhoA and Rac1 in the sympathetic axons might provide a clearer understanding on the mechanism of axon patterning on the kidney.

In heart innervation, the single receptor KO mice and DKO mice show more axonal crossovers on the target compared to control, suggesting p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are involved in proper axon patterning on the heart. However, among the receptor KO mice, *p75-NGFR*-null mice show significantly more axonal crossovers on the heart than *TNFR1*-null mice. This suggest that axon patterning on the heart is more dependent on p75-NGFR and that p75-NGFR and TNFR1 independently function in axon patterning of heart. How the two receptors differently work in kidney and heart may be due to the distinct cellular contexts among target organs. For example, Glebova and Ginty discovered that the sympathetic target organs exhibit different requirement of NGF for target innervation. In their study, the absence of NGF greatly reduces the heart innervation, but only partially impairs the kidney innervation (Glebova and Ginty, 2004). This suggests that an unidentified signaling may be supporting the kidney innervation. Furthermore, the heterogeneous requirements of NGF suggests that cooperation of p75-

NGFR and TNFR1, i.e., the p75-NGFR/TNFR1 complex, may be available only when target innervation has lower requirement of NGF. It could be that the p75-NGFR/TNFR1 complex may function when the local NGF-TrkA signaling is low, but be disrupted by high levels of NGF-TrkA signaling. The preliminary data that p75-NGFR localization is induced after NGF-TrkA support this idea. Thus, one great future possibility is to test whether the p75-NGFR/TNFR1 complex is disrupted in high levels of NGF.

p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are required to regulate neuronal cell size in vivo

As discussed in Chapter 1, previous studies on the regulatory role of p75-NGFR in neuronal soma size distribution were based on comparison among different neuronal populations did not exclude the apoptotic function of p75-NGFR (Bamji et al., 1998). In this thesis, the neuronal populations were compared among different genotypes using the *Bax*-null background. This allows us to accurately examine the effects of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in regulation of neuronal soma size. The results demonstrated that compared to *Bax*-null control neurons, further ablation of p75-NGFR, TNFR1 or TNF shifts the entire population to a larger size, suggesting that they function to shift the population to a smaller size in wild type (Fig. 2-7B, A-3B). Since a large soma is capable of maintaining many neurites, soma size control might be one active developmental process to indirectly reduce the number of dendrites in order to achieve a proper circuitry. In this sense, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 codependently function to shape the soma size during development. Taken together with the roles in axon inhibition and patterning, this study revealed that p75-NGFR and TNFR1 modify and shape neuronal morphology during development of the sympathetic nervous system.

Detecting interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1

In Chapter 2, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 have been shown to interact each other using biochemical and microscopy techniques. Although both techniques have been applied to study a wide variety of protein-protein interactions including receptor-receptor complexes, several caveats arise.

i) Coimmunoprecipitation (coIP)

Coimmunoprecipitation (coIP) was performed to detect interaction between p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in Chapter 2 (Fig. 2-5A). One caveat of coIP is that results of the assay are sometimes susceptible to position of the epitope tag in the protein. In this biochemical assay, protein samples were prepared by transiently transfecting HEK293 cells with two DNA constructs coding for p75-NGFR and TNFR1 extracellularly tagged with HA and FLAG, respectively. Each epitope tag is located at the N-terminus of the receptor, inserted between signal sequence and mature peptide sequence. This manipulation prevents disruption of the signal sequence, thus helps appropriate localization of the receptor in a cell. Interestingly, when p75-NGFR and TNFR1 were internally epitopetagged at the C-termini, coIP was not successful. Although C-terminal fusions are beneficial for p75-NGFR and TNFR1 to avoid the risk of interfering ligand binding, it may influence intracellular structure of the receptors. Moreover, if interaction of p75NGFR and TNFR1 occurs in their intracellular domains, internal tags may be buried in the association, which may result in false negatives in coIP.

Another caveat of coIP is mislocalization of the proteins induced by the epitope tags or their ectopic overexpression. Although the constructs used in this thesis were designed such that the signal sequences would remain intact, it is possible that localization of HAp75-NGFR and FLAG-TNFR1 in HEK293 cells is not the same as that of sympathetic neurons. To exclude this possibility, coIP of endogenous p75-NGFR and TNFR1 using sympathetic neurons will be needed. In addition, performing westernblot using protein samples from sympathetic neurons as well as to HEK293 cells expressing HA-p75-NGFR and TNFR1 will also allow us to compare levels of expression of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in HEK293 cells to that of endogenous p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in sympathetic neurons. An additional caveat regarding coIP approach is that solubilizing membraneassociated proteins by detergent could cause unnatural conformations of p75-NGFR and TNFR1. Also, coIP does not exclude the possibility that p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are associated through a different protein, thus whether or not p75-NGFR and TNFR1directly interact cannot be determined only by coIP.

In order to identify which domains of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are required for their interaction, it is necessary to generate deletion mutants of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 that lose the binding ability. CoIP using constructs of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 mutants carrying a deletion of their extracellular, transmembrane or intracellular domain should provide a clue on where the association domains of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 reside in the

proteins. If interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 utilizes disulfide linkage through a conserved cysteine as previously observed in homodimer of p75-NGFR utilizing a specific transmembrane cysteine (C257), it may be interesting to find if extracellular or intracellular domains of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 possess conserved cysteines at similar locations. As shown in Chapter 3, probably p75-NGFR and TNFR1 do not interact through their transmembrane cysteines, since the potential cysteine in the transmembrane of TNFR1 is not conserved among species (Fig. 3-3).

To improve the experimental design of coIP used in this thesis, there are a few future directions. One future direction is to perform reciprocal immunoprecipitation (IP) where FLAG is immunoprecipitated and then HA is immunoblotted. This IP has been attempted, however, anti-FLAG IP protocol needs rigorous optimization by choosing an optimal antibody and incubation procedure for immunoprecipitation. If successfully performed, it will provide more validation on the interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1. Another direction to improve the current coIP is to reprobe the membrane with proteins anti-HAimmunoprecipitated. This will allow us to assess stoichiometry of the interaction between p75-NGFR and TNFR1. This was not pursued in this thesis to avoid detecting a robust 70 kDa signal of heavy chain of chicken IgY located near the 75kDa band of p75-NGFR. The anti-HA used in IP is a chicken IgY, and if reprobed using the same anti-HA, the heavy chain (70 kDa) will be detected too closely to p75-NGFR (75 kDa). Choosing a different anti-HA that has been produced in mouse or rabbit will solve this technical issue. An additional improvement for the coIP can be applied to transfection procedure. In the transfection performed in this thesis, the incubation time before media change was set to

2-3 hours and cells were incubated for 6-9 hours during transfection, both of which are shorter than that of the commercial protocol. Although these shorter time windows were intentionally selected to avoid cell death caused by transfecting two death receptors, they resulted in lower transfection efficiency than reported standards. To increase the transfection efficiency, it may be useful to add a caspase inhibitor during transfection, which will prevent cell death and allow a longer transfection period.

ii) Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC)

Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) technique was utilized to visualize interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 in Chapter 2 (Fig 2-5C). In this assay, distinct subcellular localization of homomeric oligomers of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 has been detected and the subcellular localization of p75-NGFR/TNFR1 is phenotypically similar to that of TNFR1. Although this microscopic approach has advantages in enabling detection of protein-protein interaction under a standard microscope setup without rigorous analysis procedure unlike Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET), a limitation arises. Complementation of N-terminal- and C-terminal fragments of a fluorophore, Venus in this thesis, is an irreversible step, resulting in accumulation of protein-protein association over time. Thus, fluorescent signal detected in BiFC technique does not reflect real-time dynamics of the interaction, which results in detecting disassociation that might have occurred after association as positive association. This may potentially affect our understanding of the interaction of p75-NGFR and TNFR1. The actual interaction between the two receptors might be less stable. One future possibility to study kinetics of the association of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 would be to utilize FRET technique.
Chapter 6

Materials and Methods

Animals

Sprague Dawley rats were purchased from Harlan. Sympathetic rat neurons were isolated from P0-P2 rat pups as previously described (Zareen and Green, 2009). All animals were maintained in a c57bl6/C3H hybrid background and littermate controls were used wherever possible. *Bax^{-/-}, TNFR1^{-/-}*, and *p75NGFR^{-/-}* were bred and genotyped as previously described (Knudson *et al.*, 1995; Peschon *et al.*, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 1992). All experiments were carried out in compliance with the Association for assessment of laboratory animal care policies and approved by the University of Virginia animal care and use committee.

Primary neuronal culture

Superior Cervical Ganglia (SCG) dissected from postnatal day 0-3 (P0-3) rats or mice as previously described (Suo *et al.*, 2014) underwent enzymatic dissociation. After the ganglia were completely dissociated and grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1U/ml penicillin/streptomycin (penstrep), and 50ng/ml NGF purified from mouse salivary glands. Neurons were plated on cover glass coated with poly-D-lysine (PDK) and laminin and hereafter incubated at 37°C in 10% CO₂. After 24-36 hours, the neuronal culture was treated with 5 μ M cytosine β -D-arabinofuranoside (Ara-C, Sigma, Cat#C6645) to avoid glial proliferation. Media was changed every 48-60 hours.

HEK293 cell culture

Cells were kept in 37°C in 5% CO₂. HEK293FT cells were cultured in DMEM containing 20% FBS and 1 U/ml penstrep (HEK media) and split at 1:20 to 1:10 dilution every 72-96 hours following a PBS wash and 0.05% trypsin-EDTA treatment. Cells were transfected using lipofectamine 2000 according to manufacturer's instructions.

Phylogenetic analysis and PCR primers

Amino acid sequences of all rat TNFR family members were analyzed on Phylogeny.fr. The platform performed sequence alignment by MUSCLE (v3.7), and reconstituted the phylogenetic tree using the maximum likelihood method on the PhyML (v3.0 aLRT). Then the platform performed the graphical representation and editing of the phylogenetic tree using TreeDyn (198.3) (Dereeper *et al.*, 2008). PCR was performed using standard reactions with cDNA materials synthesized from mRNA isolated from P0-3 rat SCG. The following sequences are used as primers:

TNFRSF1A- F	ACCAAGTGCCACAAAGGAAC
TNFRSF1A- R	CTGGAAATGCGTCTCACTCA
TNFRSF1B- F	AAATGCAAGCACAGATGCAG
TNFRSF1B- R	CAGCAGACCCAGAGTTGTCA
LTBR- F	GAGCCCTAAACATGGCAGAG
LTBR- R	CTGCCCTTCTCACTGTCCTC

TNFRSF4- F	CTTGTACCTGCTCCGAAAGG
TNFRSF4- R	AGGATATGGGCTGTCTGTGC
CD40- R	TCTGAGCCCTGGAACTGTTT
CD40- F	TATTACTGCGGACCCCTGAC
FAS- F	ACCTGGTGACCCTGAATCTG
FAS- R	TGATACCAGCACTGGAGCAG
CD27- F	TGTGCAGCTCCGACTGTATC
CD27- R	GGCAGCTGTAAGGACAAAGC
TNFRSF8- F	TGCAGAGAAGTGGGTCAGTG
TNFRSF8- R	GTGGCTCTGGAGGTTCTCTG
TNFRSF9- F	CTGGTTCTCTGTGCCCAAAT
TNFRSF9- R	AGTGCTTCTCGGTTTCCTGA
TNFRSF10B- F	AAACCAGGCAGCTTTGAAGA
TNFRSF10B- R	AGCTGGGTTGTTTCCATTTG
TNFRSF11A- F	GCCAGCAAGAAGTGTGTGAA
TNFRSF11A- R	CCGGTCCGTGTACTCATCTT
TNFRSF11B- F	TGGGAATGAAGATCCTCCAG
TNFRSF11B- R	GAGGAAGGAAAGGGCCTATG
TNFRSF12A- F	CACTGATCCAGTGAGGAGCA
TNFRSF12A- R	CTCTCTGTCTGCCCCAGAAC
TNFRSF13B- F	GGCCGGATAACTTAGGAAGG

TNFRSF13B- R	TGGGAAGTGGCTCTCCTCTA
TNFRSF13C- F	GTGGGTCTGGTGAGTCTGGT
TNFRSF13C- R	TTGAATGGAGGCCAGTTAGG
TNFRSF14- F	CAGCTAGATCGGCCTACCAC
TNFRSF14- R	GCTGTTCCACAGCATGAGAA
NGFR-RT F	TTGCTTGCTGTTGGAATGAG
NGFR-RT R	AGCTCCTGGGGAGGAAAATA
TNFRSF17- F	ACTAAGAGCAGGGCTGGTGA
TNFRSF17- R	CTTGCCATAGTCACCCGTTT
TNFRSF18- F	CTGTGCCATGGGTACCTTCT
TNFRSF18- R	AAGCAGCCACACTAGGAGGA
TNFRSF19- R	TCAATCCCGAAAATGAAAGC
TNFRSF19- F	GTCCTTTGAGCATCCTGAGC
TNFRSF21- F	CTCGCGGTACCTTCTCTGAC
TNFRSF21- R	CGTGTGCTCAGGATGAGAAA
TNFRSF25- F	GTGCTGAGGACCTTCGTAGC
TNFRSF25- R	GCCCCTTCTGGTATTTCTCC
EDA2R- F	GGCCAACTGCACAAATACCT
EDA2R- R	TCCTACCAGTGCGACAAGTG

in vitro neuron death

Dissociated sympathetic neurons were isolated from P0-3 rats or mice and plated in mass

culture on poly-lysine and laminin. These neurons are established in 50g/ml NGF and Ara-C for 2 days. Cultures were then changed to the indicated conditions: anti-NGF (Millipore catalog#AB927, 1:1000), NGF (2ng/ml), BDNF (250ng/ml), TNF α (2ng/ml) for 36 hours followed by assessment of cell survival via Hoechst staining (Invitrogen, cat#H3569) as previously described (Suo *et al.*, 2014).

in vivo SCG neuron count/soma size

For cell number and soma size assays trunks of P0 mice or P5 mice, respectively, were flash-frozen in OCT and then cryosectioned into 10 μ m thick sections. The slides were stained using the Nissl protocol and the number or size of cell bodies including distinct nucleoli was determined on every fifth section. Neuronal numbers were then determined by multiplying the counts by five. Cell size distribution was determined by categorizing the area of soma into small (less than 175 μ m²), medium (175~350 μ m²), large (more than 350 μ m²).

in vitro axon growth measurement

Sympathetic neurons were cultured in microfluidic device for 3 to 5 days in 50ng/ml NGF. Once the axons were long enough for measurement, then cellbodies and distal axons were switched to media containing 10ng/ml NGF and either 250ng/ml BDNF or 2ng/ml TNFα. An NGF-free medium with anti-NGF (Millipore catalog#AB927, 1:1000) was also used as control. A caspase inhibitor, BAF (boc-aspartate fluoromethylketone), was used at 20nM in all conditions to prevent cell death. The axons were then imaged

using phase-contrast microscopy, and reimaged after 24 hours. The axons were then measured using ImageJ, with at least 12 axons measured per condition.

Wholemount tyrosine hydroxylase staining

Wholemount organ staining was performed as previously described (Glebova and Ginty, 2004). Kidneys and hearts were harvested from P0 mice and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight. They were then dehydrated in methanol. Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched using a solution of 20% DMSO/ 77% methanol/ 3% hydrogen peroxide. The organs were rehydrated and blocked in 4% BSA overnight, then incubated in sheep anti-TH (Chemicon cat #AB1542) at 1:500 for 3 days. The organs were washed with PBST and transferred to a 1:200 solution of anti-sheep HRP overnight. The organs were washed again and their color was developed in a solution of DAB with hydrogen peroxide. They were then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, dehydrated in methanol, and cleared in a 2:1 solution of benzyl benzoate and benzyl alcohol.

Quantification of axonal pattering in kidney and heart

To examine the degree of axonal tiling/defasciculation in kidney 3 parallel lines were placed on an imaged kidney such that the middle line overlies the major axis of the oval kidney shape (Fig. 2-8). The number of axons crossing each line was assessed such that the more cross-overs observed represents the extent of tiling. For heart innervation we assessed the number of crossovers an individual axon encounters. These results were normalized according to the individual length of the axon. Hearts and kidneys from at least 5 animals per genotype were examined and 3 organs per condition were used for quantification.

Construction of plasmids

HA-p75-NGFR and FLAG-TNFR1: The full-length coding sequence of wild type rat p75-NGFR (Gift from J. Tuttle) and TNFR1 (Obtained from the mammalian gene collection) were expressed from the pcDNA 3.1 backbone and pExpress1 backbone, respectively. N-terminal hemagglutinin (HA) epitope and triple repeats of FLAG epitope was inserted between signal sequence and mature peptide sequence of p75-NGFR and TNFR1, respectively. p75-VN, p75-VC, TNFR1-VN, TNFR-VC, TrkA-VN, TrkA-VC: The full length coding sequence of wild type rat p75-NGFR and TNFR1 were expressed from the pTREhyg backbone. Triple repeats of the FLAG epitope were inserted between the signal sequence and mature peptide sequence of p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and TrkA. In the C-terminus of p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and TrkA, Venus N - or C-terminal fragments were inserted.

Immunoblot analysis

HEK293 cells were transfected with the constructs of HA-p75-NGFR and/or FLAG-TNFR1 using Lipofectamine2000 (Invitrogen) overnight and then lysed in ice-cold lysis buffer containing 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma, cat#X100), 60mM Octyl β -Dglucopyranoside (Sigma, cat#O8001) and protease inhibitors (Sigma, cat#P8340). For immunoprecipitation, 100µg of lysed sample was incubated with agarose-conjugated chicken anti-HA (Aves Lab, cat#PHA-1010) overnight at 4°C. After electrophoresis, gels were blotted to PVDF membranes. The blots were immunostained with anti-FLAG (Sigma, cat#F1804), anti-HA (Aves Lab, cat#ET-HA100), and anti-Tubulin overnight at 4°C, and then imaged using Odyssey Infrared system (Licor). For input controls, 10µg of lysed sample was loaded in each lane.

BiFC visualization

BiFC was performed as previously described (Hu and Kerppola, 2003). HEK293 cells were transfected with the BiFC constructs using Lipofectamine2000 (Invitrogen) for 8-10 hours and then imaged using fluorescence microscopy (514 nm excitation).

PSD immunocytochemistry, p75-NGFR immunocytochemistry

The different steps needed for PSD- and p75-NGFR immunohistochemistry are shown in a) and b) respectively. DIV 12~16 rat- or DIV 8-12 mouse neurons are fixed in a) 100% ethanol at -20 °C, or b) 4% PFA at room temperature for 15 minutes, followed by 2 washes in PBS for 5 minutes/wash. Then the sample is blocked in a) 0.2 % gelatin, 0.075 % Triton-X in PBS on ice, or b) 5 % goat serum, 0.05 % Triton-X in PBS at room temperature for 30-120 minutes, and incubated over night at 4°C in blocking solution with primary antibodies of a) Maguk (Membrane-associated guanylate kinase) and MAP2 (Microtuble-associated protein 2), or b) p75, TNFR1 and MAP2. Following 2 washes in PBS, the sample is incubated in blocking solution with proper secondary Alexa Fluor fluorescents for 60 minutes at room temperature. Then after 2 PBS washes, the sample is mounted on a slide glass for confocal microscopy.

Appendix 1:

Validating gene expression in p75-NGFR-null and TNFR1-null neurons

The observations from Chapter 2 that axon growth in p75-NGFR-null neurons is not inhibited in the presence of TNF α *in vitro* led me to ask whether *TNFR1* is actually expressed in the p75-NGFR-null neurons. Likewise, the observation that axon growth in *TNFR1*-null neurons is not inhibited in the presence of BDNF *in vitro* led me to ask whether p75-NGFR is expressed in the *TNFR1*-null neurons. Toward this end, I examined gene expression of p75-NGFR, *TNFR1*, and other pro-death genes of interest using the SCG neurons collected from p75-NGFR-null- and *TNFR1*-null mice at P0 via RT-PCR. The data display p75-NGFR expression in *TNFR1*-null neurons (Fig. A-1A). p75-NGFRnull neurons also showed p75-NGFR expression due to the retained nucleotide sequence p75-NGFR in our mutant mice, which was originally generated by inserting NEO to exon 3, leading to a frame shift but not deletion (Lee et al., 1992). Thus, the transcript seen in this lane should be nonfunctional. On the other hand, *TNFR1* expression is present only in wild type and p75-NGFR-neurons. This suggests that p75-NGFR expression is not eliminated by ablation of TNFR1.

To confirm the *p75-NGFR* transcript in *p75-NGFR*-null neurons is nonfunctional, I examined expression of p75-NGFR at protein level. The results show that the protein expression of p75-NGFR in NGF-deprived sympathetic neurons is absent in *p75-NGFR*-/-;*TNFR1-/-* (DKO) neurons (Fig. A-1B). p75-NGFR shows smear in lanes for wild type and *TNFR1*-null, probably due to the p75-NGFR cleavage induced by NGF withdrawal.

Since DKO animal line was generated by crossing *p75-NGFR-/-* line and *TNFR1-/-* line, the *p75-NGFR-/-* mouse line is now proven to lack functional p75-NGFR protein. This suggests that the abnormal transcript observed in the RTPCR is nonfunctional in the *p75-NGFR*-null mice. Taken together, TNFR1 is expressed in the *p75-NGFR*-null neurons and p75-NGFR is expressed in the *TNFR1*-null neurons.

Interestingly, mRNA expression levels of death receptors and their ligands are altered in p75-NGFR-null- and TNFR1-null neurons (Fig. A-1A). Genes including TNFR1, TNF and ADAM17 are upregulated in p75-NGFR-null neurons whereas genes including p75-NGFR and BDNF are upregulated in TNFR1-null neurons. These data suggest that TNF-TNFR1 signaling is enhanced in *p75-NGFR*-null neurons while BDNF-p75-NGFR signaling is enhanced in *TNFR1*-null neurons. Moreover, TNF-sensitivity is probably increased in *p75-NGFR*-null neurons whereas BDNF-sensitivity is increased in *TNFR1*null neurons. Thus, the two distinct mutant neurons have strengthened the other receptor's signaling and ligand sensitivity. This might be another explanation for the significant cell death observed in *p75-NGFR*-null neurons when cultured with NGF and TNF α (Fig. 2-4B). Perhaps, the death may have been caused due to the enhanced TNF-TNFR1 signaling and TNF-sensitivity in these neurons, rather than the nature of TNFR1 which was concluded to be p75-NGFR-independent to cause cell death. Likewise, the enhanced signaling may be the reason for more significant cell death of both p75-NGFRnull- and *TNFR1*-neurons in the anti-NGF condition, compared to that of wild type neurons. In comparison, enhanced BDNF-p75-NGFR signaling and BDNF-sensitivity in TNFR1-null neurons do not seem to influence the codependence model, as p75-NGFR

has been still incapable of cause significant cell death or axon growth inhibition in *TNFR1*-null neurons. In order to accurately understand the endogenously enhanced signaling in these mutant neurons, a future experiment will be to repeat the same *in vitro* assays with anti-TNF α or anti-BDNF added in the suboptimal NGF condition to remove TNF α or BDNF in media. If the increased expression of *TNF* and *BDNF* leads to an excess and toxic level of secretion of TNF α or BDNF in *p75-NGFR*-null- and *TNFR1*-neurons, respectively, neurons cultured in the suboptimal NGF with anti-TNF α or anti-BDNF will show higher survival and axon growth relative to that of the suboptimal NGF only.

Figure A-1. RT-PCR *of p75-NGFR*, *TNFR1*, and other selected genes using *p75-NGFR*-null- and *TNFR1*-null neurons.

(A) RT-PCR of p75-NGFR, TNFR1 and other selected genes using *p75-NGFR*-null- and *TNFR1*-null neurons.

(B) p75-NGFR Westernblotting of NGF-deprived SCG neurons from *TNFR1-/-* and *p75-NGFR-/-;TNFR1-/-* animals.

Figure A-1





Appendix 2:

Analysis on BiFC controls using homomeric pair of TrkA

In order to provide more validation on the BiFC assay used in Chapter 2, quantification of controls using homomeric pair of TrkA was performed. HEK cells expressing homomeric pair of TrkA (TrkA-VN, TrkA-VC) were exposed to media containing 0 or 50 ng/ml of NGF prior to imaging as negative and positive controls, respectively. 25 randomly selected fields were imaged and the number of Venus-positive plasma membranes was examined. The cells exposed to 50 ng/ml NGF showed higher number of Venus-positive plasma membranes (Fig. A-2). Since the BiFC constructs of TrkA, p75-NGFR and TNFR1 have been designed similarly, this results provide more validation for the BiFC technique used in this thesis. To aid complete validation, a negative control that is a membrane protein and does not bind to p75-NGFR or TNFR1 will be required.

Figure A-2. Quantification of BiFC controls using homomeric pair of TrkA.

HEK cells expressing TrkA-VN and TrkA-VC were exposed to media containing 0 or 50 ng/ml of NGF for 15 minutes prior to imaging. 25 fields were randomly selected and imaged. The number of Venus-positive plasma membranes was examined and the results were normalized to the negative control where cells were exposed to media containing no NGF.

Figure A-2



Appendix 3: Roles of p75-NGFR- and TNFR1 ligands in vivo

We examined roles of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 ligands *in vivo*. We again used the *Bax^{-/-}* paradigm to assess competition induced soma atrophy without the byproduct of cell death. $TNF^{-/-}$; $Bax^{-/-}$ animals were generated and analyzed as previously in Figure 2-7 (Fig. A-3A). Interestingly $TNF^{-/-}$; $Bax^{-/-}$ mice exhibits size distribution similar to wild-type, suggesting that like the receptor knockouts, loss of TNF is also capable of rescuing the $Bax^{-/-}$ neuron size distribution phenotype (Fig. A-3B). We did not examine cell size using p75-NGFR ligand knockout animals, i.e., $BDNF^{-/-}$; $NT4^{-/-}$; $Bax^{-/-}$ mice, since they must be bred as triple heterozygous yielding low triple null frequency (1/64). Taken together with data from receptor knockout experiments, these findings are consistent with a model whereby p75-NGFR and TNFR1 are codependent in the context of regulating soma size and that this codependent function may also require ligand engagement.

Next, we examined the role of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 ligands in sympathetic target innervation. In contrast to TNFR1, p75-NGFR is highly promiscuous in its ligand binding preferences. We chose to focus on the mature neurotrophins, BDNF and NT4 rather than NGF and NT3 since the later two preferentially participate in TrkA-dependent trophic signaling. We examined sympathetic axon innervation of kidney and heart from P0 *BDNF*^{-/-}; *NT4*^{-/-}mice as well as *TNF*^{-/-} mice as previously in Figure 2-9 (Fig. A-3C). Kidneys from both *BDNF*^{-/-}; *NT4*^{-/-} mice and *TNF*^{-/-} mice display normal axon tiling (Fig. A-3D). These data suggest that the receptor co-dependence of p75-NGFR and TNFR1 that we observe for tiling in the kidney in Figure 2-9 occurs either in a ligandindependent manner or in the presence of other ligand partners. As is the case for kidney innervation, *BDNF*^{-/-}; *NT4*^{-/-} and *TNF*^{-/-} hearts appear to be patterned normally suggesting a different set of ligands or a ligand-independent process (Fig. A-3E).

We next sought to address the apparent discrepancy between our in vivo versus in vitro cell death paradigms by asking whether ligands for p75-NGFR are used to expedite neuronal death as we and others have previously suggested (Deppmann et al., 2008; Bamji et al., 1998). Toward this end, the neuron number in SCGs from P0 BDNF^{/-}; NT4⁻ ^{/-} as well as *TNF*^{-/-} mice was examined. Interestingly, we did not observe any difference in neuron number between wild type and *BDNF^{-/-}*; *NT4^{-/-}* mice (Fig. A-3F), indicating that the neurotrophin p75-NGFR ligands are not necessary to expedite developmental death. Surprisingly, TNF^{-} mice phenocopy the p75-NGFR^{-/-} phenotype, in which neuron number is increased by approximately 25% at P0, suggesting that TNF is required to cause developmental cell death in vivo. Taken together with our finding that TNFR1^{-/-} mice do not phenocopy the p75-NGFR^{-/-} cell death phenotype, these data suggest that TNF does not act through TNFR1 in promoting developmental sympathetic neuron death. Furthermore, our observation that TNFα promotes cell death in *p75-NGFR*^{-/-} neurons *in* vitro eliminates the possibility that TNFa may work directly through p75-NGFR (Fig. 2-4B). How TNFα transduces its signaling remains unclear and will be attractive for ongoing inquiry.

Figure A-3. Influence by BDNF, NT4 and TNF in sympathetic soma size distribution, target innervation, and neuronal number *in vivo*.

(A) TNF is required to normal cell body size distribution *in vivo*. After Nissl-stained, the size of cell bodies of neurons on 10 μ m mouse SCG sections were analyzed using central profiling. Blue arrow: large soma (>350 μ m²), Red arrow: medium soma (175-350 μ m²), Green arrow: small soma (<175 μ m²). The control (*Bax*^{-/-}) was adapted from Figure 2-7A. (B) Quantification of (A). The control (*Bax*^{-/-}) was adapted from Figure 2-7B.

(C) BDNF, NT4 and TNF are required for sympathetic innervation at kidneys and hearts at P0. Whole-mount tyrosine hydroxylase immunostaining of p0 mouse kidneys taken from Wild-type (WT), *BDNF^{-/-};NT4^{-/-}*, and *TNF^{-/-}*. Each experiment was performed at least 3 times (n=3). The control (WT) was adapted from Figure 2-9A.

(D) Quantification of axon bundle tiling on kidneys shown in (C). At least 3 kidneys per genotype were analyzed. p values were determined with one-way ANOVA. The control (WT) was adapted from Figure 2-9B.

(E) Quantification of axonal crossovers on hearts shown in (C). At least 3 hearts per genotype were analyzed. p values were determined with one-way ANOVA. The control (WT) was adapted from Figure 2-9D.

(F) TNF is required in developmental cell death *in vivo*. The neuronal number was counted using central profiling on 10 μm mouse SCG sections after Nissl-stained.
WT:n=6, *BDNF^{-/-}*;*NT4^{-/-}*:n=3, *TNF^{-/-}*:n=3. The control (WT) was adapted from Figure 2-10A.

122

Contributions. A, B: Original pictures taken and cell size measured by Catherine Jansch.

C: Original pictures taken by Danielle Heffner. F: Cells counted by Catherine Jansch.

Figure A-3





References

- Arch, Robert H., Richard W. Gedrich, and Craig B. Thompson. "Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor-Associated Factors (TRAFs)—a Family of Adapter Proteins That Regulates Life and Death." *Genes & Development* 12, no. 18 (September 15, 1998): 2821–30. doi:10.1101/gad.12.18.2821.
- Bamji, S X, M Majdan, C D Pozniak, D J Belliveau, R Aloyz, J Kohn, C G Causing, and F D Miller. "The p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Mediates Neuronal Apoptosis and Is Essential for Naturally Occurring Sympathetic Neuron Death." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 140, no. 4 (February 23, 1998): 911–23.
- Barker, V, G Middleton, F Davey, and A M Davies. "TNFalpha Contributes to the Death of NGF-Dependent Neurons during Development." *Nature Neuroscience* 4, no. 12 (December 2001): 1194–98. doi:10.1038/nn755.
- Bartkowska, Katarzyna, Kris Turlejski, and Rouzanna L Djavadian. "Neurotrophins and Their Receptors in Early Development of the Mammalian Nervous System." *Acta Neurobiologiae Experimentalis* 70, no. 4 (2010): 454–67.
- Bibel, M, and Y A Barde. "Neurotrophins: Key Regulators of Cell Fate and Cell Shape in the Vertebrate Nervous System." *Genes & Development* 14, no. 23 (December 1, 2000): 2919–37.
- Bossen, Claudia, Karine Ingold, Aubry Tardivel, Jean-Luc Bodmer, Olivier Gaide, Sylvie Hertig, Christine Ambrose, Jürg Tschopp, and Pascal Schneider. "Interactions of Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) and TNF Receptor Family Members in the Mouse and Human." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, no. 20 (May 19, 2006): 13964–71. doi:10.1074/jbc.M601553200.

- Bronfman, Francisca C. "Metalloproteases and Gamma-Secretase: New Membrane
 Partners Regulating p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Signaling?" *Journal of Neurochemistry* 103 Suppl 1 (November 2007): 91–100. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04781.x.
- Cane, K. N., and C. R. Anderson. "Generating Diversity: Mechanisms Regulating the Differentiation of Autonomic Neuron Phenotypes." *Autonomic Neuroscience* 151, no.
 1. Development of the Autonomic Nervous System: New Perspectives and Open Questions (November 17, 2009): 17–29. doi:10.1016/j.autneu.2009.08.010.
- Cannon, Walter Bradford. The Wisdom of the Body. W.W. Norton & Company, inc., 1932.
- Carter, B D, C Kaltschmidt, B Kaltschmidt, N Offenhäuser, R Böhm-Matthaei, P A
 Baeuerle, and Y A Barde. "Selective Activation of NF-Kappa B by Nerve Growth
 Factor through the Neurotrophin Receptor p75." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 272, no.
 5261 (April 26, 1996): 542–45.
- Chan, F K, H J Chun, L Zheng, R M Siegel, K L Bui, and M J Lenardo. "A Domain in TNF Receptors That Mediates Ligand-Independent Receptor Assembly and Signaling." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 288, no. 5475 (June 30, 2000): 2351–54.
- Chan, Francis Ka-Ming. "Three Is Better than One: Pre-Ligand Receptor Assembly in the Regulation of TNF Receptor Signaling." *Cytokine* 37, no. 2 (February 2007): 101–7. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2007.03.005.

- Chao, Moses V. "Neurotrophins and Their Receptors: A Convergence Point for Many Signalling Pathways." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 4, no. 4 (April 2003): 299–309. doi:10.1038/nrn1078.
- Chen, Guoqing, and David V Goeddel. "TNF-R1 Signaling: A Beautiful Pathway." Science (New York, N.Y.) 296, no. 5573 (May 31, 2002): 1634–35. doi:10.1126/science.1071924.
- Chun, L L, and P H Patterson. "Role of Nerve Growth Factor in the Development of Rat Sympathetic Neurons in Vitro. I. Survival, Growth, and Differentiation of Catecholamine Production." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 75, no. 3 (December 1977): 694–704.
- Coggeshall, R E, R La Forte, and C M Klein. "Calibration of Methods for Determining Numbers of Dorsal Root Ganglion Cells." *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 35, no.
 3 (December 1990): 187–94.
- Cohen, Stanley. "PURIFICATION OF A NERVE-GROWTH PROMOTING PROTEIN FROM THE MOUSE SALIVARY GLAND AND ITS NEURO-CYTOTOXIC ANTISERUM*." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 46, no. 3 (March 1960): 302–11.
- Cottin, Vincent, Joyce E S Doan, and David W H Riches. "Restricted Localization of the TNF Receptor CD120a to Lipid Rafts: A Novel Role for the Death Domain." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* 168, no. 8 (April 15, 2002): 4095–4102.
- Cusack, Corey L, Vijay Swahari, W Hampton Henley, J Michael Ramsey, and Mohanish Deshmukh. "Distinct Pathways Mediate Axon Degeneration during Apoptosis and

Axon-Specific Pruning." Nature Communications 4 (2013): 1876.

doi:10.1038/ncomms2910.

- Das, Utpal, David A Scott, Archan Ganguly, Edward H Koo, Yong Tang, and Subhojit
 Roy. "Activity-Induced Convergence of APP and BACE-1 in Acidic Microdomains
 via an Endocytosis-Dependent Pathway." *Neuron* 79, no. 3 (August 7, 2013): 447–60. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.05.035.
- Davies, A M. "Nerve Growth Factor Synthesis and Nerve Growth Factor Receptor
 Expression in Neural Development." *International Review of Cytology* 128 (1991): 109–38.
- Davies, Alun M. "Extracellular Signals Regulating Sympathetic Neuron Survival and Target Innervation during Development." *Autonomic Neuroscience* 151, no. 1 (November 17, 2009): 39–45. doi:10.1016/j.autneu.2009.07.011.
- Deckwerth, T L, J L Elliott, C M Knudson, E M Johnson Jr, W D Snider, and S J Korsmeyer. "BAX Is Required for Neuronal Death after Trophic Factor Deprivation and during Development." *Neuron* 17, no. 3 (September 1996): 401–11.
- Deckwerth, T L, and E M Johnson Jr. "Neurotrophic Factor Deprivation-Induced Death." Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 679 (May 28, 1993a): 121–31.
- Deckwerth, T L, and E M Johnson Jr. "Temporal Analysis of Events Associated with Programmed Cell Death (apoptosis) of Sympathetic Neurons Deprived of Nerve Growth Factor." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 123, no. 5 (December 1993b): 1207–22.
- Deinhardt, Katrin, Taeho Kim, Daniel S Spellman, Richard E Mains, Betty A Eipper, Thomas A Neubert, Moses V Chao, and Barbara L Hempstead. "Neuronal Growth

Cone Retraction Relies on Proneurotrophin Receptor Signaling through Rac." *Science Signaling* 4, no. 202 (2011): ra82. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2002060.

- Dekkers, Martijn P. J., Vassiliki Nikoletopoulou, and Yves-Alain Barde. "Death of Developing Neurons: New Insights and Implications for Connectivity." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 203, no. 3 (November 11, 2013): 385–93. doi:10.1083/jcb.201306136.
- Deppmann CD, Janes KA. (2012) Cytokine-cytokine crosstalk and cell-death decisions. In: Systems Biology of Apoptosis (ed. IN Lavrik), pp 215. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Deppmann, Christopher D., Stefan Mihalas, Nikhil Sharma, Bonnie E. Lonze, Ernst Niebur, and David D. Ginty. "A Model for Neuronal Competition During Development." *Science* 320, no. 5874 (April 18, 2008): 369–73. doi:10.1126/science.1152677.
- Dereeper, A., V. Guignon, G. Blanc, S. Audic, S. Buffet, F. Chevenet, J.-F. Dufayard, et al. "Phylogeny.fr: Robust Phylogenetic Analysis for the Non-Specialist." *Nucleic Acids Research* 36, no. Web Server (May 2008): W465–W469. doi:10.1093/nar/gkn180.
- Deshmukh, M, and E M Johnson Jr. "Programmed Cell Death in Neurons: Focus on the Pathway of Nerve Growth Factor Deprivation-Induced Death of Sympathetic Neurons." *Molecular Pharmacology* 51, no. 6 (June 1997): 897–906.
- Edinger, Aimee L, and Craig B Thompson. "Death by Design: Apoptosis, Necrosis and Autophagy." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 16, no. 6 (December 2004): 663–69. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2004.09.011.

- Edwards, S N, A E Buckmaster, and A M Tolkovsky. "The Death Programme in Cultured Sympathetic Neurones Can Be Suppressed at the Posttranslational Level by Nerve Growth Factor, Cyclic AMP, and Depolarization." *Journal of Neurochemistry* 57, no. 6 (December 1991): 2140–43.
- Eissner, Günther, Walter Kolch, and Peter Scheurich. "Ligands Working as Receptors: Reverse Signaling by Members of the TNF Superfamily Enhance the Plasticity of the Immune System." *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 15, no. 5 (October 2004): 353–66. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2004.03.011.
- Ellis, R E, J Y Yuan, and H R Horvitz. "Mechanisms and Functions of Cell Death." *Annual Review of Cell Biology* 7 (1991): 663–98. doi:10.1146/annurev.cb.07.110191.003311.
- Enomoto, H, P A Crawford, A Gorodinsky, R O Heuckeroth, E M Johnson Jr, and J
 Milbrandt. "RET Signaling Is Essential for Migration, Axonal Growth and Axon
 Guidance of Developing Sympathetic Neurons." *Development (Cambridge, England)* 128, no. 20 (October 2001): 3963–74.
- Fagan, Anne M., Hong Zhang, Story Landis, Richard J. Smeyne, Inmaculada Silos-Santiago, and Mariano Barbacid. "TrkA, But Not TrkC, Receptors Are Essential for Survival of Sympathetic Neurons In Vivo." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 16, no. 19 (October 1, 1996): 6208–18.
- Fitzsimonds, R M, and M M Poo. "Retrograde Signaling in the Development and Modification of Synapses." *Physiological Reviews* 78, no. 1 (January 1998): 143–70.

- Gentry, Jannifer J, Philip A Barker, and Bruce D Carter. "The p75 Neurotrophin Receptor: Multiple Interactors and Numerous Functions." *Progress in Brain Research* 146 (2004): 25–39. doi:10.1016/S0079-6123(03)46002-0.
- Glebova, Natalia O, and David D Ginty. "Growth and Survival Signals Controlling Sympathetic Nervous System Development." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 28 (2005): 191–222. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.28.061604.135659.
- Glebova, Natalia O, and David D Ginty. "Heterogeneous Requirement of NGF for Sympathetic Target Innervation in Vivo." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 24, no. 3 (January 21, 2004): 743–51. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4523-03.2004.
- GLUCKSMANN, A. "Cell Deaths in Normal Vertebrate Ontogeny." *Biological Reviews* of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 26, no. 1 (February 1951): 59–86.
- Ham, Jonathan, Andreas Eilers, Jonathan Whitfield, Stephen J Neame, and Bina Shah.
 "C-Jun and the Transcriptional Control of Neuronal Apoptosis." *Biochemical Pharmacology* 60, no. 8 (October 15, 2000): 1015–21. doi:10.1016/S0006-2952(00)00372-5.
- HAMBURGER, V, and R LEVI-MONTALCINI. "Proliferation, Differentiation and Degeneration in the Spinal Ganglia of the Chick Embryo under Normal and Experimental Conditions." *The Journal of Experimental Zoology* 111, no. 3 (August 1949): 457–501.
- Hempstead, Barbara L. "Dissecting the Diverse Actions of pro- and Mature Neurotrophins." *Current Alzheimer Research* 3, no. 1 (February 2006): 19–24.

- Hempstead, Barbara L. "The Many Faces of p75NTR." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 12, no. 3 (June 2002): 260–67.
- Honma, Yutaka, Toshiyuki Araki, Scott Gianino, Allen Bruce, Robert Heuckeroth,
 Eugene Johnson, and Jeffrey Milbrandt. "Artemin Is a Vascular-Derived
 Neurotropic Factor for Developing Sympathetic Neurons." *Neuron* 35, no. 2 (July 18, 2002): 267–82.
- Hu, Chang-Deng, and Tom K Kerppola. "Simultaneous Visualization of Multiple Protein Interactions in Living Cells Using Multicolor Fluorescence Complementation Analysis." *Nature Biotechnology* 21, no. 5 (May 2003): 539–45. doi:10.1038/nbt816.
- Hu, Y, X Lee, Z Shao, D Apicco, G Huang, B J Gong, R B Pepinsky, and S Mi. "A DR6/p75(NTR) Complex Is Responsible for B-Amyloid-Induced Cortical Neuron Death." *Cell Death & Disease* 4 (2013): e579. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.110.
- Iacaruso, María Florencia, Soledad Galli, Marcelo Martí, Jorge Ignacio Villalta, Darío Ariel Estrin, Elizabeth Andrea Jares-Erijman, and Lía Isabel Pietrasanta. "Structural Model for p75(NTR)-TrkA Intracellular Domain Interaction: A Combined FRET and Bioinformatics Study." *Journal of Molecular Biology* 414, no. 5 (December 16, 2011): 681–98. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2011.09.022.
- Ibáñez, Carlos F, and Anastasia Simi. "p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Signaling in Nervous System Injury and Degeneration: Paradox and Opportunity." *Trends in Neurosciences* 35, no. 7 (July 2012): 431–40. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2012.03.007.
- Ibáñez, Carlos F., Ted Ebendal, Gisela Barbany, Judith Murray-Rust, Tom L. Blundell, and Håkan Persson. "Disruption of the Low Affinity Receptor-Binding Site in NGF

Allows Neuronal Survival and Differentiation by Binding to the Trk Gene Product." *Cell* 69, no. 2 (April 17, 1992): 329–41. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90413-7.

- Ichim, Gabriel, Servane Tauszig-Delamasure, and Patrick Mehlen. "Neurotrophins and Cell Death." *Experimental Cell Research* 318, no. 11 (July 1, 2012): 1221–28. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.03.006.
- Jahed, Ali, and Michael D Kawaja. "The Influences of p75 Neurotrophin Receptor and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in the Sympathetic Innervation of Target Tissues during Murine Postnatal Development." *Autonomic Neuroscience: Basic & Clinical* 118, no. 1–2 (March 31, 2005): 32–42. doi:10.1016/j.autneu.2004.12.004.
- Jansen, Pernille, Klaus Giehl, Jens R Nyengaard, Kenneth Teng, Oleg Lioubinski, Susanne S Sjoegaard, Tilman Breiderhoff, et al. "Roles for the pro-Neurotrophin Receptor Sortilin in Neuronal Development, Aging and Brain Injury." *Nature Neuroscience* 10, no. 11 (November 2007): 1449–57. doi:10.1038/nn2000.
- Kanning, Kevin C, Mark Hudson, Paul S Amieux, Jesse C Wiley, Mark Bothwell, and Leslayann C Schecterson. "Proteolytic Processing of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor and Two Homologs Generates C-Terminal Fragments with Signaling Capability." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 23, no. 13 (July 2, 2003): 5425–36.
- Kenchappa, Rajappa S., Chhavy Tep, Zeljka Korade, Soledad Urra, Francisca C.
 Bronfman, Sung Ok Yoon, and Bruce D. Carter. "p75 Neurotrophin Receptor-Mediated Apoptosis in Sympathetic Neurons Involves a Biphasic Activation of JNK and Up-Regulation of Tumor Necrosis Factor-A-Converting Enzyme/ADAM17."

Journal of Biological Chemistry 285, no. 26 (June 25, 2010): 20358-68.

doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.082834.

- Kerr, J F, A H Wyllie, and A R Currie. "Apoptosis: A Basic Biological Phenomenon with Wide-Ranging Implications in Tissue Kinetics." *British Journal of Cancer* 26, no. 4 (August 1972): 239–57.
- Kisiswa, Lilian, Catarina Osório, Clara Erice, Thomas Vizard, Sean Wyatt, and Alun M Davies. "TNFα Reverse Signaling Promotes Sympathetic Axon Growth and Target Innervation." *Nature Neuroscience* 16, no. 7 (July 2013): 865–73. doi:10.1038/nn.3430.
- Knudson, C M, K S Tung, W G Tourtellotte, G A Brown, and S J Korsmeyer. "Bax-Deficient Mice with Lymphoid Hyperplasia and Male Germ Cell Death." *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*) 270, no. 5233 (October 6, 1995): 96–99.
- Kobayashi, Miwako, Kenzo Kurihara, and Ichiro Matsuoka. "Retinoic Acid Induces BDNF Responsiveness of Sympathetic Neurons by Alteration of Trk Neurotrophin Receptor Expression." *FEBS Letters* 356, no. 1 (December 14, 1994): 60–65. doi:10.1016/0014-5793(94)01238-5.
- Kohn, J, R S Aloyz, J G Toma, M Haak-Frendscho, and F D Miller. "Functionally Antagonistic Interactions between the TrkA and p75 Neurotrophin Receptors Regulate Sympathetic Neuron Growth and Target Innervation." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 19, no. 13 (July 1, 1999): 5393–5408.
- Kohn, Judi, Raquel S. Aloyz, Jean G. Toma, Mary Haak-Frendscho, and Freda D. Miller. "Functionally Antagonistic Interactions between the TrkA and p75 Neurotrophin

Receptors Regulate Sympathetic Neuron Growth and Target Innervation." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 19, no. 13 (July 1, 1999): 5393–5408.

- Kole, A J, R P Annis, and M Deshmukh. "Mature Neurons: Equipped for Survival." *Cell Death & Disease* 4, no. 6 (June 2013): e689. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.220.
- Kristiansen, Mark, Francesca Menghi, Rosie Hughes, Mike Hubank, and Jonathan Ham.
 "Global Analysis of Gene Expression in NGF-Deprived Sympathetic Neurons Identifies Molecular Pathways Associated with Cell Death." *BMC Genomics* 12, no. 1 (November 8, 2011): 551. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-12-551.
- Kuruvilla, Rejji, Larry S Zweifel, Natalia O Glebova, Bonnie E Lonze, Gregorio Valdez, Haihong Ye, and David D Ginty. "A Neurotrophin Signaling Cascade Coordinates Sympathetic Neuron Development through Differential Control of TrkA Trafficking and Retrograde Signaling." *Cell* 118, no. 2 (July 23, 2004): 243–55. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.06.021.
- Lee, K F, K Bachman, S Landis, and R Jaenisch. "Dependence on p75 for Innervation of Some Sympathetic Targets." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 263, no. 5152 (March 11, 1994): 1447–49.
- Lee, Kuo-Fen, En Li, L. Julie Huber, Story C. Landis, Arlene H. Sharpe, Moses V. Chao, and Rudolf Jaenisch. "Targeted Mutation of the Gene Encoding the Low Affinity NGF Receptor p75 Leads to Deficits in the Peripheral Sensory Nervous System."
 Cell 69, no. 5 (May 29, 1992): 737–49. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90286-L.
- Levi-Montalcini, R. "The Nerve Growth Factor 35 Years Later." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 237, no. 4819 (September 4, 1987): 1154–62.

Levi-Montalcini, Rita, and Barbara Booker. "EXCESSIVE GROWTH OF THE SYMPATHETIC GANGLIA EVOKED BY A PROTEIN ISOLATED FROM MOUSE SALIVARY GLANDS." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 46, no. 3 (March 1960): 373–84.

Li, Lin, Laurie C Eldredge, David H Quach, Avinash Honasoge, Katherine Gruner, and Warren G Tourtellotte. "Egr3 Dependent Sympathetic Target Tissue Innervation in the Absence of Neuron Death." *PloS One* 6, no. 9 (2011): e25696. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0025696.

Linggi, Michelle S, Tara L Burke, B Blairanne Williams, Anthony Harrington, Rosemary Kraemer, Barbara L Hempstead, Sung Ok Yoon, and Bruce D Carter. "Neurotrophin Receptor Interacting Factor (NRIF) Is an Essential Mediator of Apoptotic Signaling by the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, no. 14 (April 8, 2005): 13801–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M410435200.

- Liu, X, P Ernfors, H Wu, and R Jaenisch. "Sensory but Not Motor Neuron Deficits in Mice Lacking NT4 and BDNF." *Nature* 375, no. 6528 (May 18, 1995): 238–41. doi:10.1038/375238a0.
- Locksley, R M, N Killeen, and M J Lenardo. "The TNF and TNF Receptor Superfamilies: Integrating Mammalian Biology." *Cell* 104, no. 4 (February 23, 2001): 487–501.

<sup>Majdan, M, C Lachance, A Gloster, R Aloyz, C Zeindler, S Bamji, A Bhakar, et al.
"Transgenic Mice Expressing the Intracellular Domain of the p75 Neurotrophin</sup> Receptor Undergo Neuronal Apoptosis." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 17, no. 18 (September 15, 1997): 6988–98.

- Majdan, M, and F D Miller. "Neuronal Life and Death Decisions Functional Antagonism between the Trk and p75 Neurotrophin Receptors." *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the International Society for Developmental Neuroscience* 17, no. 3 (June 1999): 153–61.
- Majdan, M, G S Walsh, R Aloyz, and F D Miller. "TrkA Mediates Developmental Sympathetic Neuron Survival in Vivo by Silencing an Ongoing p75NTR-Mediated Death Signal." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 155, no. 7 (December 24, 2001): 1275– 85. doi:10.1083/jcb.200110017.
- Margolis, Seth S, John Salogiannis, David M Lipton, Caleigh Mandel-Brehm, Zachary P
 Wills, Alan R Mardinly, Linda Hu, et al. "EphB-Mediated Degradation of the RhoA
 GEF Ephexin5 Relieves a Developmental Brake on Excitatory Synapse Formation." *Cell* 143, no. 3 (October 29, 2010): 442–55. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.038.
- Martin, D P, R E Schmidt, P S DiStefano, O H Lowry, J G Carter, and E M Johnson Jr.
 "Inhibitors of Protein Synthesis and RNA Synthesis Prevent Neuronal Death Caused by Nerve Growth Factor Deprivation." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 106, no. 3 (March 1988): 829–44.
- McMahon, S B, M P Armanini, L H Ling, and H S Phillips. "Expression and Coexpression of Trk Receptors in Subpopulations of Adult Primary Sensory Neurons Projecting to Identified Peripheral Targets." *Neuron* 12, no. 5 (May 1994): 1161–71.
- Mukai, Yohei, Teruya Nakamura, Mai Yoshikawa, Yasuo Yoshioka, Shin-ichi Tsunoda, Shinsaku Nakagawa, Yuriko Yamagata, and Yasuo Tsutsumi. "Solution of the

Structure of the TNF-TNFR2 Complex." *Science Signaling* 3, no. 148 (2010): ra83. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000954.

- Naska, Sibel, Dan C Lin, Freda D Miller, and David R Kaplan. "p75NTR Is an Obligate Signaling Receptor Required for Cues That Cause Sympathetic Neuron Growth Cone Collapse." *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences* 45, no. 2 (October 2010): 108–20. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2010.05.015.
- Naudé, Petrus J W, Johan A den Boer, Paul G M Luiten, and Ulrich L M Eisel. "Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Cross-Talk." *The FEBS Journal* 278, no. 6 (April 2011): 888–98. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08017.x.
- Neumann, Harald, Rudiger Schweigreiter, Toshihide Yamashita, Katja Rosenkranz,
 Hartmut Wekerle, and Yves-Alain Barde. "Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibits Neurite
 Outgrowth and Branching of Hippocampal Neurons by a Rho-Dependent
 Mechanism." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 22, no. 3 (February 1, 2002): 854–62.
- Nikolaev, Anatoly, Todd McLaughlin, Dennis D M O'Leary, and Marc Tessier-Lavigne.
 "APP Binds DR6 to Trigger Axon Pruning and Neuron Death via Distinct Caspases." *Nature* 457, no. 7232 (February 19, 2009): 981–89. doi:10.1038/nature07767.
- Nikoletopoulou, Vassiliki, Heiko Lickert, José Maria Frade, Chantal Rencurel, Patrizia Giallonardo, Lixin Zhang, Miriam Bibel, and Yves-Alain Barde. "Neurotrophin Receptors TrkA and TrkC Cause Neuronal Death Whereas TrkB Does Not." *Nature* 467, no. 7311 (September 2, 2010): 59–63. doi:10.1038/nature09336.
- Nykjaer, Anders, Ramee Lee, Kenneth K Teng, Pernille Jansen, Peder Madsen, Morten S Nielsen, Christian Jacobsen, et al. "Sortilin Is Essential for proNGF-Induced

Neuronal Cell Death." Nature 427, no. 6977 (February 26, 2004): 843-48.

doi:10.1038/nature02319.

- O'Keeffe, Gerard W, Humberto Gutierrez, Pier Paolo Pandolfi, Carlo Riccardi, and Alun M Davies. "NGF-Promoted Axon Growth and Target Innervation Requires GITRL-GITR Signaling." *Nat Neurosci* 11, no. 2 (February 2008): 135–42. doi:10.1038/nn2034.
- Oorschot, D E, and D G Jones. "Effect of Cytosine Arabinoside on Rat Cerebral Explants: Fibroblasts and Reactive Microglial Cells as the Primary Cellular Barrier to Neurite Growth." *Neuroscience Letters* 102, no. 2–3 (July 31, 1989): 332–36.
- Oppenheim, R W. "Cell Death during Development of the Nervous System." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 14 (1991): 453–501.

doi:10.1146/annurev.ne.14.030191.002321.

- Osenkowski, Pamela, Wenjuan Ye, Rong Wang, Michael S Wolfe, and Dennis J Selkoe. "Direct and Potent Regulation of Gamma-Secretase by Its Lipid Microenvironment." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283, no. 33 (August 15, 2008): 22529–40. doi:10.1074/jbc.M801925200.
- Park, Jeong Won, Behrad Vahidi, Anne M Taylor, Seog Woo Rhee, and Noo Li Jeon.
 "Microfluidic Culture Platform for Neuroscience Research." *Nature Protocols* 1, no. 4 (2006): 2128–36. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.316.
- Park, Katya J, Carlos Ayala Grosso, Isabelle Aubert, David R Kaplan, and Freda D Miller.
 "p75NTR-Dependent, Myelin-Mediated Axonal Degeneration Regulates Neural Connectivity in the Adult Brain." *Nature Neuroscience* 13, no. 5 (May 2010): 559–66. doi:10.1038/nn.2513.
Parrish, Amanda B, Christopher D Freel, and Sally Kornbluth. "Cellular Mechanisms Controlling Caspase Activation and Function." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 5, no. 6 (June 2013). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a008672.

Paul, G, and A M Davies. "Trigeminal Sensory Neurons Require Extrinsic Signals to Switch Neurotrophin Dependence during the Early Stages of Target Field Innervation." *Developmental Biology* 171, no. 2 (October 1995): 590–605. doi:10.1006/dbio.1995.1307.

- Peschon, J J, D S Torrance, K L Stocking, M B Glaccum, C Otten, C R Willis, K Charrier,
 P J Morrissey, C B Ware, and K M Mohler. "TNF Receptor-Deficient Mice Reveal
 Divergent Roles for p55 and p75 in Several Models of Inflammation." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* 160, no. 2 (January 15, 1998): 943–52.
- Potts, Patrick Ryan, Shweta Singh, Malia Knezek, Craig B. Thompson, and Mohanish Deshmukh. "Critical Function of Endogenous XIAP in Regulating Caspase Activation during Sympathetic Neuronal Apoptosis." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 163, no. 4 (November 24, 2003): 789–99. doi:10.1083/jcb.200307130.
- Putcha, Girish V., Charles A. Harris, Krista L. Moulder, Rachael M. Easton, Craig B.
 Thompson, and Eugene M. Johnson. "Intrinsic and Extrinsic Pathway Signaling during Neuronal Apoptosis Lessons from the Analysis of Mutant Mice." *The Journal* of Cell Biology 157, no. 3 (April 29, 2002): 441–53. doi:10.1083/jcb.200110108.
- Rabizadeh, S, J Oh, L T Zhong, J Yang, C M Bitler, L L Butcher, and D E Bredesen.
 "Induction of Apoptosis by the Low-Affinity NGF Receptor." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 261, no. 5119 (July 16, 1993): 345–48.

- Rabizadeh, Shahrooz, and Dale E Bredesen. "Ten Years on: Mediation of Cell Death by the Common Neurotrophin Receptor p75(NTR)." *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 14, no. 3–4 (August 2003): 225–39.
- Reichardt, Louis F. "Neurotrophin-Regulated Signalling Pathways." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 361, no. 1473 (September 29, 2006): 1545–64. doi:10.1098/rstb.2006.1894.
- Remouchamps, Caroline, Layla Boutaffala, Corinne Ganeff, and Emmanuel Dejardin.
 "Biology and Signal Transduction Pathways of the Lymphotoxin-αβ/LTβR System." *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 22, no. 5–6 (December 2011): 301–10.
 doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.11.007.
- Riedl, Stefan J., and Yigong Shi. "Molecular Mechanisms of Caspase Regulation during Apoptosis." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 5, no. 11 (November 2004): 897–907. doi:10.1038/nrm1496.
- Roux, Philippe P, and Philip A Barker. "Neurotrophin Signaling through the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor." *Progress in Neurobiology* 67, no. 3 (June 2002): 203–33.
- Rubin, E. "Development of the Rat Superior Cervical Ganglion: Ganglion CellMaturation." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 5, no. 3 (March 1, 1985): 673–84.
- Ruit, Kenneth G., and William D. Snider. "Administration or Deprivation of Nerve
 Growth Factor during Development Permanently Alters Neuronal Geometry." *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* 314, no. 1 (December 1, 1991): 106–13.
 doi:10.1002/cne.903140110.

- Schütze, Stefan, Vladimir Tchikov, and Wulf Schneider-Brachert. "Regulation of TNFR1 and CD95 Signalling by Receptor Compartmentalization." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 9, no. 8 (August 2008): 655–62. doi:10.1038/nrm2430.
- Sharma, Nikhil, Christopher D Deppmann, Anthony W Harrington, Coryse St Hillaire,
 Zhe-Yu Chen, Francis S Lee, and David D Ginty. "Long-Distance Control of
 Synapse Assembly by Target-Derived NGF." *Neuron* 67, no. 3 (August 12, 2010):
 422–34. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2010.07.018.
- Sheng, Morgan, and Casper C Hoogenraad. "The Postsynaptic Architecture of Excitatory Synapses: A More Quantitative View." *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 76 (2007): 823–47. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.76.060805.160029.
- Silke, J, and R Brink. "Regulation of TNFRSF and Innate Immune Signalling Complexes by TRAFs and cIAPs." *Cell Death and Differentiation* 17, no. 1 (January 2010): 35– 45. doi:10.1038/cdd.2009.114.
- Simon, David J., Robby M. Weimer, Todd McLaughlin, Dara Kallop, Karen Stanger, Jing Yang, Dennis D. M. O'Leary, Rami N. Hannoush, and Marc Tessier-Lavigne. "A Caspase Cascade Regulating Developmental Axon Degeneration." *The Journal of Neuroscience* 32, no. 49 (December 5, 2012): 17540–53. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3012-12.2012.
- Singh, Karun K, Katya J Park, Elizabeth J Hong, Bianca M Kramer, Michael E
 Greenberg, David R Kaplan, and Freda D Miller. "Developmental Axon Pruning
 Mediated by BDNF-p75NTR-Dependent Axon Degeneration." *Nature Neuroscience*11, no. 6 (June 2008): 649–58. doi:10.1038/nn.2114.

- Suo, Dong, Juyeon Park, Anthony W Harrington, Larry S Zweifel, Stefan Mihalas, and Christopher D Deppmann. "Coronin-1 Is a Neurotrophin Endosomal Effector That Is Required for Developmental Competition for Survival." *Nature Neuroscience* 17, no. 1 (January 2014): 36–45. doi:10.1038/nn.3593.
- Tam, Stephen J, David L Richmond, Joshua S Kaminker, Zora Modrusan, Baby Martin-McNulty, Tim C Cao, Robby M Weimer, Richard A D Carano, Nick van Bruggen, and Ryan J Watts. "Death Receptors DR6 and TROY Regulate Brain Vascular Development." *Developmental Cell* 22, no. 2 (February 14, 2012): 403–17. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2011.11.018.
- Teng, Kenneth K., Sarah Felice, Taeho Kim, and Barbara L. Hempstead. "Understanding Proneurotrophin Actions: Recent Advances and Challenges." *Developmental Neurobiology* 70, no. 5 (April 1, 2010): 350–59. doi:10.1002/dneu.20768.
- Tracey, Daniel, Lars Klareskog, Eric H Sasso, Jochen G Salfeld, and Paul P Tak. "Tumor Necrosis Factor Antagonist Mechanisms of Action: A Comprehensive Review." *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 117, no. 2 (February 2008): 244–79. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2007.10.001.
- Twohig, Jason P, Simone M Cuff, Audrey A Yong, and Eddie C Y Wang. "The Role of Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Superfamily Members in Mammalian Brain Development, Function and Homeostasis." *Reviews in the Neurosciences* 22, no. 5 (2011): 509–33. doi:10.1515/RNS.2011.041.
- Urra, Soledad, Claudia A. Escudero, Patricio Ramos, Fernanda Lisbona, Edgardo Allende, Paulina Covarrubias, Jose I. Parraguez, et al. "TrkA Receptor Activation by Nerve Growth Factor Induces Shedding of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Followed by

Endosomal Γ-Secretase-Mediated Release of the p75 Intracellular Domain." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, no. 10 (March 9, 2007): 7606–15. doi:10.1074/jbc.M610458200.

Valley, Christopher C, Andrew K Lewis, Deepti J Mudaliar, Jason D Perlmutter, Anthony R Braun, Christine B Karim, David D Thomas, Jonathan R Brody, and Jonathan N Sachs. "Tumor Necrosis Factor-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) Induces Death Receptor 5 Networks That Are Highly Organized." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287, no. 25 (June 15, 2012): 21265–78. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.306480.

- Vilar, Marçal, Ioannis Charalampopoulos, Rajappa S Kenchappa, Alessandra Reversi,
 Joanna M Klos-Applequist, Esra Karaca, Anastasia Simi, et al. "Ligand-Independent
 Signaling by Disulfide-Crosslinked Dimers of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor." *Journal of Cell Science* 122, no. Pt 18 (September 15, 2009): 3351–57.
 doi:10.1242/jcs.055061.
- Vilar, Marçal, Ioannis Charalampopoulos, Rajappa S Kenchappa, Anastasia Simi, Esra Karaca, Alessandra Reversi, Soyoung Choi, et al. "Activation of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor through Conformational Rearrangement of Disulphide-Linked Receptor Dimers." *Neuron* 62, no. 1 (April 16, 2009): 72–83. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.02.020.
- Wang, Kevin C, Jieun A Kim, Rajeev Sivasankaran, Rosalind Segal, and Zhigang He.
 "P75 Interacts with the Nogo Receptor as a Co-Receptor for Nogo, MAG and OMgp." *Nature* 420, no. 6911 (November 7, 2002): 74–78. doi:10.1038/nature01176.

- Wong, Scott T, John R Henley, Kevin C Kanning, Kuo-hua Huang, Mark Bothwell, and Mu-ming Poo. "A p75(NTR) and Nogo Receptor Complex Mediates Repulsive Signaling by Myelin-Associated Glycoprotein." *Nature Neuroscience* 5, no. 12 (December 2002): 1302–8. doi:10.1038/nn975.
- Wu, Wei, Peng Liu, and Jianyong Li. "Necroptosis: An Emerging Form of Programmed Cell Death." *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology* 82, no. 3 (June 2012): 249– 58. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2011.08.004.
- Yamashita, Toshihide, and Masaya Tohyama. "The p75 Receptor Acts as a Displacement Factor That Releases Rho from Rho-GDI." *Nature Neuroscience* 6, no. 5 (May 2003): 461–67. doi:10.1038/nn1045.
- Yamashita, Toshihide, Kerry Lee Tucker, and Yves-Alain Barde. "Neurotrophin Binding to the p75 Receptor Modulates Rho Activity and Axonal Outgrowth." *Neuron* 24, no. 3 (November 1999): 585–93. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81114-9.
- Ye, Haihong, Rejji Kuruvilla, Larry S Zweifel, and David D Ginty. "Evidence in Support of Signaling Endosome-Based Retrograde Survival of Sympathetic Neurons." *Neuron* 39, no. 1 (July 3, 2003): 57–68.
- Yoon, S O, P Casaccia-Bonnefil, B Carter, and M V Chao. "Competitive Signaling between TrkA and p75 Nerve Growth Factor Receptors Determines Cell Survival." *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 18, no. 9 (May 1, 1998): 3273–81.
- Zampieri, Niccolò, Chong-Feng Xu, Thomas A Neubert, and Moses V Chao. "Cleavage of p75 Neurotrophin Receptor by Alpha-Secretase and Gamma-Secretase Requires

Specific Receptor Domains." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, no. 15 (April 15, 2005): 14563–71. doi:10.1074/jbc.M412957200.

- Zareen, Neela, and Lloyd A. Greene. "Protocol for Culturing Sympathetic Neurons from Rat Superior Cervical Ganglia (SCG)." *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, no. 23 (January 30, 2009). doi:10.3791/988.
- Zhang, Y. H., R. Khanna, and G. D. Nicol. "Nerve Growth factor/p75 Neurotrophin Receptor-Mediated Sensitization of Rat Sensory Neurons Depends on Membrane Cholesterol." *Neuroscience* 248 (September 17, 2013): 562–70. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.06.039.
- Zhu, Yinghua, Daniel Pak, Yi Qin, Stefanie G McCormack, Myung J Kim, Joel P
 Baumgart, Vanisree Velamoor, et al. "Rap2-JNK Removes Synaptic AMPA
 Receptors during Depotentiation." *Neuron* 46, no. 6 (June 16, 2005): 905–16.
 doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.04.037.